
PLANNING COMMITTEE
12.30 pm

THURSDAY
9 MAY 2019

COUNCIL CHAMBER - SHIRE 
HALL, GLOUCESTER

MEETING PAPERS





PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 12.30 pm
DATE: Thursday 9 May 2019
VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Andrea Griffiths
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests (including 
their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the Code of Conduct. 
Members who have an interest to declare are asked to complete the 
Declarations of Interests form at the back of the chamber.

3.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written public questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10 am Wednesday 
1st May 2019.

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public with the 
consent of the Chairperson.
Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be possible 
to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a 
written answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after 
the meeting.

4.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 
Wednesday 1st May 2019.

5.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 12) Andrea Griffiths
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 
the 21st March 2019.  

6.  APPLICATION NO: 18/0032/TWMAJW LAND TO THE WEST Denis Canney



OF WINGMOOR FARM, STOKE ROAD, BISHOPS CLEEVE. 
(Pages 13 - 22)
That the Planning Committee approves the conditions as drafted.

7.  APPLICATION NO:18/0073/TWMAJW.  LAND OFF 
SHURDINGTON ROAD, BENTHAM, NEAR CHELTENHAM 
(Pages 23 - 68)

Linda Townsend

To consider a temporary extension to the recycling facility yard.  

8.  PLANNING ENFORCEMENT REPORT (Pages 69 - 72) Andy Birchley
The Committee is asked to note the report.

9.  DELEGATED DECISIONS 9TH MARCH - 26TH APRIL 2019 
(Pages 73 - 74)

Sarah Pearse

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1. The Sites Inspection Visit will take place on Thursday 9th 

May 2019.  Please will members meet in the Members Car 
Park at 9.25am

2. The Chairman’s Briefing will take place directly after the site 
visit, in Meeting room 2 upon  return to Shire Hall.  

NOTES

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Keith Rippington, 
Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Simon Wheeler

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 428472
 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the 
meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact 
AndreaGriffiths, Democratic Services Unit 
: 01452 324206/fax: 425240 e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training 
(since June 2013) before they can sit on the Committee and take part in 
discussion and vote. Substitution arrangements are as set out on page 67 of the 
Constitution. A list of trained Members is available from your Political Assistant.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 21 March 
2019 commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford 
(Chairman)
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Bernard Fisher

Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines

Apologies: Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Keith 
Rippington and Cllr Simon Wheeler

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Awford & Cllr Vines declared they were both members of Tewkesbury Borough Council 
(TBC) and were members of TBC Planning Committee.   

11. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.  

12. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No member’s questions had been received.

13. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 31st January 2019 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairperson.  

14. LAND TO WEST OF WINGMOOR FARM, STOKE ROAD, BISHOPS CLEEVE. 
APPLICATION NO:18/0032/TWMAJW 

A summary of the application was presented by Denis Canney, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation.  (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book).

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

This was a planning application by Mr W Gilder, owner of Gilder Environmental 
Services Ltd for planning permission for the use of the land for mixing lime with bio 
solids sludge cake mainly from the processing of waste water at the Toddington site 
and other waste water treatment sites.

It was noted that the application was originally reported to the January planning 
committee but was deferred to allow the applicant to attempt to address a 
procedural error in the original application submission in respect of the relevant land 
ownership certificates being served. The Waste Planning Authority (WPA) had 
acted in a pragmatic manner in allowing the applicant to retrospectively address the 
procedural error subject to the applicant taking their own legal advice. 

The applicant submitted to the WPA and publicised the appropriate land ownership 
certificate and press notice, it was explained that no representations had been 
received.

The Committee were advised that an update letter was sent by the agent to 
Members referring to the officer’s report and seeking support of Members in 
reversing the officer’s recommendation. The Chairperson confirmed with the 
Committee that Members had viewed this correspondence.  

Members were advised that the application site was located within the Parish of 
Stoke Orchard.  The Committee viewed a location map, which showed Bishops 
Cleeve (E & SE), Uckington (South), Swindon (SE) and Elmstone and Hardwicke 
(West) of the location site.  

The Committee’s attention was drawn to Slide 3 of the presentation; the application 
site was outlined in red including access from adopted public highway, rifle range, 
Park Industrial Estate and Wingmoor Farm West.

Slide 4 displayed the land registry details showing the extent of the applicant’s 
ownership.  Slide 5 showed the route to site going across unregistered land in order 
to access the development site.

Mr Canney summarised the proposed development and the material planning 
considerations.  It was explained that the proposal related to the liming of waste 
“sludge’s” arising from the treatment of waste at the applicant’s waste water 
treatment facility at Toddington, as well as bio solids from local waste water 
treatment facilities (identified at paragraph 2.9 of the report). The Toddington site 
treated waste liquids, septic wastes and other leachates in order to produce 
environmentally compliant processed liquids and bio solids cake/sludge that could 
be applied to land to provide ecological or agricultural benefit.
 
Members were informed that planning permission was sought to process up to 
20,000 Tonnes per annum. It was reported that currently 15,000 Tonnes per annum 
of material from the Toddington site was disposed of at landfill.

The Committee noted that the site was adjoined by former airfield infrastructure 
buildings which were partly disused or used in connection with the telecom mast.   

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

There were public rights of way in the area notably across the field to the north, 
views into the site were mainly from the nearest dwellings and Waterloo Farm as 
well as the newer residential development adjoining the Stoke Road.  It was 
proposed to construct a landscape bund along the northern site boundary and the 
access road in an attempt to screen the development and its activities from public 
views.

Mr Canney explained the planning issues considered were the impact on the Green 
Belt, highway concerns, odour and potential noise impact. It was noted that the 
main material planning issues in this case was the impact that the proposed 
development would have upon the Green Belt and the Highway Authority concerns.
 
The Committee were advised that in particular the main issues to be considered 
were:
- Whether it was an inappropriate development within the Green Belt as 

identified in the NPPF/NPPW and development plan policy;
- The effect on the openness of the Green Belt;
- If it was an inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason of 

inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations so as to amount to the ‘very special circumstances’ 
necessary to justify the development;

- Amenity in terms of the effect on the living and working conditions of 
occupiers of the nearest residential and commercial/industrial properties, 
particularly in relation to noise, dust and odour; and

- Highway Authority concerns.

Mr Canney informed members that a 3000 sq. m concrete pad would be installed 
(in excess of 50m by 50m), native hedgerow and tree planting would occur, a bund 
to the north of the hard core areas including the waste water tank to the west, post 
and rail fence and swale area to east.

The Committee were referred to Slide 8, which showed the location of submerged 
tank and swale.  The swale dimensions given were:
- Length: 30.0m Width (Top of Bank): 8.9m
- Depth: 0.8m, Volume: 57m³ (@ Max Water Level)

Underground sealed tank dimensions were: 
- Width: 5.0m Length: 18.0m 
- Depth: 1.5m Volume: 135m³

Mr Canney explained the waste would arrive at the site by tractor and trailer or 
HGV, where it would be inspected and stored in the reception area before being 
mixed with lime by loading shovel or specialist lime plant equipment (Eco Warrior) 
before being stored in windrows up to 2m tall. The windrows would be covered with 
either straw or other material (not identified at this stage), before being taken away 
for use as a soil improver/fertiliser. 

It was noted that the material would be mixed and laid out in windrows on the 
concrete pad area (3000 sq. m = 54m by 55m) which was linked to a below ground 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

drainage holding tank (dimensions 18m x 5m x 1.5m) the waste water would be 
taken back to the Toddington facility for further use within the existing waste 
processing system. Surface water would be directed towards a swale (30m x 8.9m 
x 0.8m deep) before discharging to the brook.

Members were advised that the development if granted would be subject to control 
via an environmental permit along with an odour management plan, noise and 
waste acceptance criteria. (As detailed on page 18 of report).

Mr Canney explained that access to the site was along a private road from Stoke 
Road towards Park Industrial Estate onto the household waste recycling facility and 
Wingmoor Farm landfill site entrance.  Access to the site was shared via a gated 
entrance to the rifle range. This access track ran alongside the proposed site and 
towards an existing Severn Trent facility before turning towards Waterloo Farm.
 
It was noted that the Highway Authority required forward visibility splays of 24 
metres to the south (household waste recycling centre/Wingmoor landfill site) and 
28 metres north (towards Stoke Road) in order that a safe exit could be achieved so 
as to avoid any highway safety concerns for other vehicles entering and leaving the 
Wingmoor Farm household waste recycling facility site. Without this being 
achievable a highway objection would remain. 

Mr Canney informed the Committee that in order to achieve the required visibility 
splays, this would involve control over land outside of the applicant’s control and as 
such compliance with the highway visibility splays would necessitate the agreement 
of more than one third party landowner.
 
Predicted vehicle numbers were based on a weekly average based on the 20,000 
Tonnes per annum being brought onto the site. This equates to 400 Tonnes per 
week or an average of 4 x 20T HGV delivery vehicles per day. Vehicles leaving the 
site and removal of the limed waste would also add to these figures. The site 
operating hours requested were from 0700 to 1800 hours Mon to Friday and 0700 
to 1300 hours on Saturdays.  

Slide 15 depicted the rights of way areas, pink were footpaths, blue were 
bridleways and the yellow arrows showed the direction of uninterrupted views into 
the site across an agricultural field.

Mr Canney advised the Committee that objections had been received from 
Tewkesbury Borough Council and the Parish Councils of Stoke Orchard and 
Tredington, Bishops Cleeve, Gotherington, Elmstone Hardwicke and Uckington.  
Section 5 of the report set out the consultation undertaken by the Waste Planning 
Authority (WPA).  In addition section 6 of the report summarised the consultation 
responses.  The objections referred to inappropriate development within the Green 
Belt contrary to adopted development plan policy, inadequate access, traffic, air 
quality, odour, noise impacts, drainage, pollution, flooding concerns and visual 
impact.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The Waste Planning Authority’s recommendation was that Planning Committee 
should refuse planning permission for the reasons set out within the agenda report 
and summarised at paragraphs 9.0 to 9.10 and the reasons detailed in section 10 
of the agenda report (page 48).

Mr Canney added that National Planning Policy Guidance required substantial 
weight to be attributed to any harm to the Green Belt whether caused through 
inappropriate development or by any other means. The harm by the proposed 
temporary waste use and the harm to the openness and visual amenities of the 
Green Belt were not considered insignificant and the benefits of the proposal, as 
well as its scale, temporary nature, as outlined by the applicant were not 
considered, on balance, so material to overcome the harm to the openness and the 
purpose of the Green Belt. It was considered that the argument put forward by the 
applicant did not represent “very special circumstances” to justify outweighing the 
harm to the Green Belt.
 
In summary, the proposal was a waste use that was considered to represent an 
inappropriate change of use in the Green Belt. The applicant had not demonstrated 
that “very special circumstances” exist (in this case) to justify what was considered 
to be an inappropriate development in this location. The nature of the use involving 
the siting of the 2m high windrows, screen bunding, temporary structures, 
requirement for a significant concrete hardstanding and drainage works, the 
presence and operation of plant and the external storage of plant and materials 
would be detrimental to the openness and visual amenities of the Green Belt.  

Mr Canney concluded that the overall net effect of the proposed development would 
be neither neutral or result in an improvement in both the quantitative and 
qualitative effect on openness and therefore was recommended for refusal for the 
reasons set out in the report.

Mr Canney referred Members to the correspondence they had received directly 
from the applicant’s agent in detail.  (A copy is attached to the signed minute book).  
It was noted that the matters raised by the applicant did not raise any new matters 
which hadn’t been considered in the agenda report. What was raised was a 
differing opinion in material matters relating to the Green Belt. In particular  Mr 
Canney stated that the engineering aspect was an ancillary part of the application 
and was therefore not of significant relevance and he once again reiterated that no 
‘very special circumstances’ existed in his opinion and it was inappropriate to 
develop in this location.  

The Chairperson invited the applicant to address the committee: 

Mr William Gilder (Applicant): 

“Good Morning, it’s nice to be here again, Mr Chairman, Members of the 
Committee.  I am William Gilder and I thank you for allowing me to speak on behalf 
of our application.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

I am sure you will be glad to hear about sewage again, rather than Brexit.  We 
embarked on the journey of this application over a year ago when we applied to 
Gloucestershire County Council for pre-application advice.  Our planning adviser 
and I met with the GCC planning officer on site, who was broadly happy with what 
we were proposing, suffice to say that the land is located in the green belt but 
adjacent to a large and long standing refuse site operated by Enovert, which is also 
in the Green Belt.  

Unfortunately, once we had submitted our application, a different planning officer 
was appointed to handle the application.  The planning officer held a different view 
to the pre- application planning officer and, as a consequence a considerable 
amount of correspondence and meetings have ensued with the inevitable delays.  
Costs have now escalated in this application to in excess of £25,000 this is all a far 
cry from what we anticipated and understood from our pre-application meeting for a 
relative simple concrete pad.  

By way of background, the William Gilder Group employs nearly 200 staff and is 
one of Gloucestershire’s top 100 employers.  The business has grown steadily over 
the last twenty years and turnover this year will be in excess of £20million.  The 
group creates a lot of local employment.  

Some of you may be aware that we operate three sites: at Teddington Hands, 
Toddington Saw Mills and Gretton Fields.  We operate our sewage recycling 
business from our site at Toddington.  Given the growth of this industry and the 
move towards recycling more sewage waste, this business has grown significantly.  
In short we have run out of space.  

The sewage recycling facility at Toddington is unique.  Apart from the large water 
companies, there are no other operators, so far as I am aware, recycling treated 
sewage to land.  

Now, I realise that sewage is probably not at the forefront of people’s minds when 
the subject of recycling is discussed.  However, it is every bit as important as 
recycling cans, bottles or cardboard.  Recycled sewage sludge is a valuable 
product, which is high in phosphate and potash, potash is the single largest element 
used in industry and farming.  About 90 million tonnes of potash are mined each 
year, but the harsh reality is that this is a finite resource, it will run out and when it’s 
gone, it’s gone.  

By far the largest use for phosphate and potash is in agriculture, its essential for 
growing crops, nothing will grow without it.  Rather than exhausting valuable finite 
resources, sewage can be recycled by treating it and transforming it into a uniform 
product fit for agriculture.  As our population grows, with ever increasing demands 
on land resources for growing food, the need to use the valuable elements 
contained in recycled sewage will only increase.  However, to meet this demand 
and to do this properly, to ensure that the product is safe, uniform and traceable, we 
need to expand our facilities to Stoke Orchard.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Our application as it currently stands anticipates four vehicle movements a day, 
however, this may be a lot less and could be more like four vehicle movements a 
week.  

Regarding the access we are more than happy to improve visibility and road 
surface.  Also to clarify the weight restriction is a private sign erected by the gun 
club and this is has no legal standing.  The road is already used by Severn Trent 
Water using 44 ton vehicles weekly.  

Although this application is situated in the green belt, it is adjacent to a large refuse 
site.  In addition, I’m sure you will agree that it is not the sort of operation that is 
suitable for being in close proximity to housing or in the middle of an industrial 
estate.  It is in open fields, and ideally situated, being not far away from our existing 
sites and having a degree of land spreading.  

Our application is seeking a temporary permission for a simple concrete pad.  We 
would have preferred a permanent approach, however after liaising with the officer 
we accept a temporary permission.  It is our view that our application will also 
enhance the local environment as we will be implementing a landscaping scheme.  

Our business is heavily regulated by the Environment Agency and we would need 
to apply for an EA permit, which can only be done once the appropriate planning 
permission is in place.  The EA are also tasked with ongoing monitoring of 
compliance to protect the environment.”

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentations.  

Councillor Bird asked if there were any concerns relating to odour at the Toddington 
site.  Mr Canney clarified that there no issues relating to odour; however this 
application was for the liming of materials at the Wingmoor site.  The application 
was a proposal to transport the sludge from Toddington to Wingmoor Farm.

Councillor Bird reiterated the question that there were no objections relating to 
odour.  Mr Canney explained that the waste product was currently disposed of at 
landfill.  Councillor Bird clarified that part of the process was conducted at the 
Toddington site with no odour.  Mr Canney explained that the process was not 
odourless.  

Councillor Bird accepted that rules and regulations had to be adhered to but 
questioned what was the degree of risk of odour at the application site.  

Councillor Parsons sought clarity as to the process being proposed at the 
application site and whether this would be different to that in respect of the  material 
produced at the Toddington site, also that the material currently went to landfill and 
there did not seem to be any odour problems.   Mr Canney explained that the 
applicant had proposed an odour management plan as part of the application.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Councillor Vines made reference to Mr Gilder’s statement in that this application 
was the only facility in the County and requested to know if this was the case?  Mr 
Canney confirmed that there were no other facilities undertaking this process in 
Gloucestershire at the moment.  

Councillor Tracey added that given the number of lorry movements entering the 
site, could the access road be changed, widened and a speed limit enforced?  Mr 
Canney explained that the access road belonged to Tewkesbury Borough Council 
and provided heavy traffic access to the various sites.  It was explained that the 
Highway Authority had initially raised an objection as they felt the access points 
were too close together, given that the access road also accommodated the 
household recycling centre.  It was evident that engineering improvements would 
need to be made to achieve he necessary visibility splay and the cooperation of the 
third party landowners would be required.  

Councillor Tracey also raised concerns in relation to increased traffic in the summer 
months with people accessing the rifle range and the risk of stray bullets.  Mr 
Canney informed the committee that the rifle range was not within the control of the 
Waste Planning Authority and the access road gates were locked after the 
operating hours, that the rifle range had their own safety regime in place.  

Councillor Robinson wished to know what the height of the bund and planting would 
be.  Mr Canney advised the Committee that the height of the bund had not been 
agreed at this stage, as the Officer’s recommendation was for refusal.  However, if 
the application were to be approved then it would be controlled via a planning 
condition.  Councillor Robinson also asked whether the remainder of the field would 
remain in agricultural use.  Mr Canney stated that he did not know,  the Waste 
Planning Authority had concerns that the size of the site may not be able to 
accommodate the proposal, however the agent had confirmed that the site meets 
the needs of the operation.   

Councillor Hale questioned the temporary permission sought by the applicant, given 
the cost of the application; he wondered what the long term aspiration of the 
company was?  Mr Canney stated that the application had originally been for a full 
planning permission; however the applicant revised the application to a 5 year 
temporary permission.  Mr Canney advised that a new planning permission would 
be required beyond 5 years.

The Chairperson reminded Members that they were to consider the application 
before them.  

Councillor Parsons referred to Paragraph 2.5 of the report in terms of the advice 
provided by different officers of the WPA between the pre-application and formal 
application stage and questioned the subsequent need for ‘very special 
circumstances’.  

Mr Phillips informed the Committee that pre-application advice had been sought 
and he proceeded to summarise the 13 page pre-application advice given to the 
agent/applicant which was not fundamentally at odds between pre-application and 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

application stage.  It was noted that the pre-application response letter gave officer 
conclusions and that this pre-application advice was made without prejudice to any 
further information that may be required in relation to this site, or any application for 
planning permission that may subsequently be submitted to the Waste Planning 
Authority. 

Mr Phillips explained that the Pre App advice had stressed of significant importance 
is that the Development Plan requires justification for exceptional development in 
the Green Belt. Paragraphs 79, 87 and 88 of the Framework are especially 
prescriptive on this matter. The Pre Application advice  strongly suggested that the 
applicant considers and pays particular attention to the justification required under 
Paragraphs 87 and 88 of the Framework. The applicant was advised that he would 
need to carry out a site assessment, justifying this location and ruling out all non 
Green Belt alternative sites to demonstrate why the proposal requires this location. 

From the information provided in the pre-application package, by virtue of the 
potential scale, nature and siting of the proposal within the Green Belt and proximity 
to neighbouring residents/occupiers, the planning officer was of the opinion that the 
proposal would constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt (see 
paragraph 88 of the Framework) and as such the proposal would need to justify 
exceptional circumstances to be granted consent in this location. Mr. Phillips 
confirmed that the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) confirms that waste 
management facilities located in the Green Belt would be inappropriate 
development. 

Mr Phillips also highlighted that in the Pre App advice whilst Policy WCS13 is 
relatively briefly worded, the Policy represents the crux of deciding if the proposal is 
acceptable or not. The applicant would need to prove that special circumstances do 
indeed exist in relation to this proposal for it to be considered satisfactory. Without 
such clear justification, the proposal would be deemed inappropriate and cannot be 
supported. Mr. Phillips confirmed that members need to consider the application in 
the context of the Development Plan including WCS Policy 13 and  in line with 
Section 38 (6) as a starting point unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Councillor Parsons questioned Paragraph 4.10 of the report.  Mr Phillips explained 
that paragraph 146 of the NPPF made reference to material change in use of land 
within the Green Belt, however it should be remembered that the NPPF is a 
material consideration which should be read alongside the NPPW which indicates 
how waste management operations should be considered in the context of the 
Green Belt.

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Bird suggested that the essence of the planning refusal was that this 
application was purely in the Green Belt, (as per Paragraph 4.9 of the report), which 
referred to Paragraph 145 of the NPPF.  However, there was no issue of odour and 
therefore he felt the Green Belt argument was void.  Councillor Bird debated the 
point that the application was for a concrete slab and not the construction of a new 
building.  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Councillor Vines endorsed Councillor Bird’s viewpoint and put a proposal before 
Committee that the Committee should vote against the Waste Planning Authority’s 
recommendation that the application should not be refused and instead should be 
permitted. Councillor Vines put forward a motion to permit the application. He 
believed that very special circumstances could be applied in this case, especially as 
this facility was the only one of its kind in the County, and surrounding area. It 
would also ensure that 20,000 tonnes of muck would not go to landfill, which would 
comply with the requirements of the  Waste Core Strategy in particular WCS3 
regarding recycling and composting requirements. The application site was not 
close to housing but adjacent to a landfill site and therefore considered that this was 
an appropriate location for the proposal. That one would expect to see such sudo 
agricultural activity in this location and not for example on an industrial estate. He 
reiterated that the Council should support this type of application.  

Councillor Tracey seconded the proposal to allow the application subject to 
appropriate conditions, particularly in respect of landscaping.  She felt there was no 
problem with the location of the site or impact on the Green Belt.  

Councillor Parsons also added that he supported the application as he felt there 
were exceptional circumstances which met the requirements set out in S146 of the 
NPPF as set out by the applicant and his agent in their submissions to committee.  

Councillor Cordwell reminded the Committee that the facility was not currently in 
use on the site and he felt that the previous speakers had ignored the NPPF. He felt 
that Paragraph 144 of the NPPF referred to ‘very special circumstances’ and those 
referred to by other members were not sufficient to justify allowing the application.  
As it was only a temporary permission therefore the benefit would only be 
temporary.  

The Chairperson reminded members that they needed to provide reasons for ‘very 
special circumstances’ being met in this application.

Councillor Bird reiterated his previous point, that it was not the construction of a 
new building.  Ms Denness explained that the construction of a concrete slab was a 
new development, and therefore members needed to provide very special 
circumstances to permit the application.  

The Chairperson informed the Committee that any form of development was a 
development in the Green Belt.  

Councillor Cordwell referred to paragraph 144 of the NPPF  (as referred to on Page 
16 of the report) and felt this applied to any planning application.  

Councillor Bird once again referred to paragraph 4.9 of the report, which referred to 
paragraph 145 of the NPPF, he strongly felt that this was not a new building.  

Councillor Parsons concurred that the concrete slab preserved the openness of the 
Green Belt and referred to paragraph 4.10 of the report, which referred to 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

paragraph 146 of NPPF.  He felt this application should be allowed as it preserved 
the openness of the Green Belt.  

Councillor Cordwell stated that it was not an engineering operation, but a waste 
operation which is not identified as an exception within the Green Belt.

Councillor Fisher added that a concrete slab did constitute a building in the Green 
Belt and asked the Chair to move to the vote.  He added that organic waste going 
to landfill was not a problem; it was the inorganic waste that was the problem.  Mr 
Canney explained that the waste in its current form could already be used on the 
land, but seasonally at present.  

Councillor Hale felt that common sense should prevail and added that he would be 
supporting the application. 

Councillor Parsons suggested the very special circumstance that the application 
preserved the openness of the green Belt, and should be allowed. 

Councillor Vines referred to paragraph 4.6 of the report (Para 133 of the NPPF), he 
explained that the application had no impact on built up areas and preserved the 
openness of the Green Belt.  He remarked that the five principles of the Green Belt 
were unaffected and did not compromise the Green Belt in any way.  He added that 
this type of application should be encouraged, as it prevented waste from going to 
landfill.  He summarised by saying that the list of ‘very special circumstances’ 
should be provided by Government, therefore this was a subjective view point.  

Ms Denness informed the Committee as members were minded to go against the 
Waste Planning Authority’s recommendation to refuse the application, that any 
determination of the application would be a ‘minded to approve’ the application as 
the application would need to be referred to the Secretary of State under the 
direction procedure, to allow the Secretary of State an opportunity to consider his 
power to call in the application for determination directly (given that this was 
development within the Green Belt). In addition if they were minded to approve they 
would need to consider the requirement for appropriate conditions to be attached to 
any permission, as the recommendation was for refusal no conditions had been 
considered. Members may wish for officers to draft appropriate conditions and to 
bring back before them at the next Planning Committee to ratify such conditions.  

Also that members needed to note that given the Highway Authority’s outstanding 
objection in respect of visibility issues to the access and the need for third party 
agreement to allow the requisite visibility to be achieved that the applicant would 
need to enter into a section 106 agreement to secure the necessary visibility 
requirements, this would need to be entered into before planning permission could 
be formally issued.

The Chairperson confirmed with Members that they were happy to accept the 
Officer’s points in respect of any determination of the matter; the above were noted 
and agreed.  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

On being put to the vote, the proposal to allow the application was passed (6 in 
favour and 3 against)

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be granted in principle, subject to any call in by the 
Secretary of State. In addition the requirement of the Planning Committee to 
ratify any planning conditions that the application should be subject to at the 
next Planning Committee and a section 106 agreement being in place prior to 
the issuing of planning permission to overcome the Highway Authority’s 
planning objection.

15. PLANNING ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

 Andy Birchley, Enforcement Officer presented the report in detail.  

During the discussion Councillor Bird thought as far as he was aware the lighting 
issues relating to enforcement complaints at Cleeve School had been resolved.  
The Enforcement Officer confirmed he had had no further complaints since 
requesting the lights to be switched off after 9pm.  

Councillor Tracey raised concerns with the increased waste on and near the 
Willows Caravan Site in County Council ownership and managed by Alan Bentley,  
who was arranging for missing fences to be replaced and waste to be removed.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

16. DELEGATED DECISIONS 19TH JANUARY - 8TH MARCH 2019 

The Committee received the report.  

Resolved

That the delegated decisions made between 19th January 2019 and 8th Match 
2019 be noted.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.32 am

Page 12



APPLICATION NO: 18/0032/TWMAJ
W

VALIDATION 
DATE:

16th April  2018

DISTRICT REF:            18/00400/CM

APPLICANT: William Gilder Ltd, Teddington Hands, Evesham Road, 
Toddington, Tewkesbury, Gloucestershire, GL20 8NE

SITE: Land To West Of Wingmoor Farm, Stoke Road, Bishop’s 
Cleeve

 

PROPOSAL: Biosolids Cake Liming Treatment for a 5 year temporary 
period.

PARISH OF:

Stoke Orchard

SITE AREA: 1.783 Ha GRID REF: 393942
227368

RECOMMENDED: That the Planning Committee approves the following 
conditions as drafted.

INTRODUCTION

1.0 Members will recall that the above application was considered at the 21st 
March 2019 Planning Committee and the resolution is referred to in paragraph 
1.5 below. The report to Members is attached as appendix A.

1.1 The development proposal is for the sustainable treatment of sludges arising 
from the treatment of waste at the applicant’s Toddington Treatment Centre, 
and bio-solids from local waste water treatment facilities so it can be used as 
fertiliser in agriculture.

1.2 The applicant, Gilder Environmental provide a variety of specialist waste and 
resource management services with the aim of diverting materials from 
landfill, either through recovery or recycling and avoiding reliance on fossil 
fuel derived alternatives. The Gilder Environmental’s designated waste water 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



treatment facility at Toddington (Toddington Treatment Centre) which 
operates in accordance with extant planning permission 12/0021/TWMAJW 
dated 16th April 2013 is of relevance to this application. The facility was 
purposely designed to treat waste liquids, septic wastes and other leachates 
in order to produce environmentally compliant processed liquids and biosolids 
cake that can then be applied to land to provide ecological or agricultural 
benefit (via supply of nutrients and/or positive changes to soil properties).

1.3 The application site would accept up to 20,000T per annum of the waste 
material. The material would be mixed with lime on a concrete pad and stored 
in covered windrows 2m tall before being removed from site for agricultural 
purposes. A landscaping bund is proposed as screening and vehicle 
movements are based on an average of 400T per week over a 50 week 
period. Environmental impacts relating to odour, noise and dust would be 
controlled via planning conditions.

1.4 The above application was initially reported to the 31st January 2019 Planning 
Committee where members deferred the application to allow the applicant to 
address a procedural error regarding land ownership. The application was 
subsequently considered at the March 2019 Planning Committee with an 
officer recommendation for refusal which is summarised at 9.4 of the planning 
report which stated that “In summary, the proposal is a waste use that is 
considered to represent an inappropriate change of use in the Green Belt. 
The applicant has not demonstrated that “very special circumstances” exist in 
this case to justify what is considered to be an inappropriate development in 
this location. The nature of the use involving the siting of the 2m high 
windrows, screen bunding, temporary structures, requirement for a significant 
concrete hardstanding and drainage works, the presence and operation of 
plant and the external storage of plant and materials will be detrimental to the 
openness and visual amenities of the Green Belt.”

1.5 Following Committee debate members did not agree with the Waste Planning 
Authority’s officer recommendation and Planning Committee resolved “That 
planning permission be granted in principle, subject to any call in by the 
Secretary of State. In addition the requirement of the Planning Committee to 
ratify any planning conditions that the application should be subject to at the 
next Planning Committee and a section 106 agreement being in place prior to 
the issuing of planning permission to overcome the Highway Authority’s 
planning objection.”

PROPOSED PLANNING CONDITIONS

2.0 Therefore further to the 21st March Planning Committee where it was resolved 
that Members were “minded to permit” planning permission, such a decision 
being subject to the application not being called in by the Secretary of State, 
given that the application is for development within the Green Belt. Also that 
there was a requirement for members to ratify planning conditions to be 
attached to the planning permission in respect of the development (given that 
the Waste Planning Authority’s officer’s recommendation had been for refusal 
and as such no conditions were attached to the original planning report).   In 

Page 14



addition it was determined that there was a requirement for the completion of 
an S106 Planning Obligation regarding the need to provide highway splays at 
the site entrance, in order to overcome the Highway Authority’s outstanding 
statutory objection. Planning permission will not be issued until the Planning 
Obligation has been executed. 

2.1 Therefore it is recommended that members ratify the following conditions in 
line with the resolution of 21st March 2019 in respect of planning application 
18/0032. The proposed conditions are:

Commencement and Duration 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiry of three 
years from the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of 
commencement of development shall be sent to the Waste Planning 
Authority within seven days of such commencement.

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).

2. Waste operations under this permission shall cease no later than the date 
which is the fifth anniversary of the date of commencement of development, 
as notified under condition 1 of this permission, and the site shall be cleared 
of all plant, machinery, equipment, waste, other stored materials, and other 
equipment associated with the operations (including the concrete pad, 
submerged tank and swale) hereby permitted by no later than three months 
from that cessation of waste operations date.

Reason: To minimise the impact on local amenity and in order that the site 
is restored in in the interests of local amenity and to retain the openness of 
the Green Belt in accordance with Policy WCS 13 and NPPF paragraph 
133, 134.

Permitted Development Rights

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 7, Class L of Schedule 2 of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), except for those 
identified in the planning application, no new or replacement buildings, plant 
structures, screening and crushing equipment, shall be brought to site 
without the prior approval of the Waste Planning Authority.
For the avoidance of doubt the “prior approval” refers to submission of an 
appropriate formal application to the Waste Planning Authority.

Reason: To enable the Waste Planning Authority to adequately control, 
monitor and minimise the impacts on the openness of the Green Belt and 

Page 15



amenities of the local area Belt in accordance with Policy WCS 13 and 
NPPF paragraph 133, 134, 143.

Scope of the permission

4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the submitted application form and Planning Statement (as amended) dated 
19/09/2018 and amendment dated 24/09/2018 to change the application 
from permanent development to a temporary 5-year development, Transport 
Statements by Cotswold Transport Planning dated March 2018 and 5 Dec 
2018, Flood Risk Assessment (including Conceptual Drainage Layout) by 
Amber Planning dated April 2018, Ecological Assessment and Mitigation by 
Willder Ecology dated 14 February 2018 and the following drawings:

• Site Location Plan drawing number 19151-5000-01 dated March 2018
• Site Plan drawing number 19151-5000-03 dated March 2018
• Site layout plan drawing number 19159-1250-02 dated March 2018
• Landscape Plan drawing number 19159-1250-01 dated March 2018

Except so far as any contents of the documents and plans listed above are 
amended by the requirements of the conditions specified below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the details in the submitted planning application in accordance with Policy 
37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

5. No additional processes for the treatment of waste, other than those 
specified in the submitted application and supporting information shall be 
carried out at any time on the site. 

Reason: In order to define the scope of this consent minimises the impact 
on the openness of the Green Belt and in the interests of the amenity of the 
area in accordance with Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

6. The biosolids cake liming treatment hereby permitted shall be used 
exclusively to process biosolids cake subject to the following limits.  The 
total quantity of material received at the site shall not exceed 4,000 tonnes 
per calendar month (January to December) subject to a maximum of 20,000 
tonnes per calendar year (January to December). 

Reason: To define the scope of the application in the interests of highway 
safety in accordance with Policy 19 of the Waste Core Strategy.

Page 16



7. No direct public trade sales and/or the direct removal of the processed 
waste shall be carried out from the site by the public or businesses calling at 
the site in association with the development hereby approved.  

Reason: To define the scope of the application in the interests of highway 
safety in accordance with Policy 19 of the Waste Core Strategy.

Hours of Operation

8. With the exception of necessary works arising from  emergency situations 
no operations (including movement of: waste, recyclable materials, 
processed materials to or from the site; and vehicles, delivery and removal 
of materials, plant and equipment) shall take place other than between the 
following hours:

07:00- 18:00 hours Monday to Fridays and 07:00 – 13:00 on Saturdays. 
There shall be no materials accepted onto the site and no operations 
carried out on the site at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public holidays. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with 
Policy 37 & 38 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

Highway Safety

9. No development shall commence until completion of the planning obligation 
and details of a scheme to provide the required visibility splays (24m south 
and 28 north) to the Household Recycling Centre (access road in both 
directions ) so as to provide suitable visibility for the junction and measures 
to maintain as such for the duration of the development have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that safe and suitable access to the site is provided in 
accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

10.The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until space has 
been laid out within the site for two cars to be parked, and for all vehicles to 
be able to turn so as to enter and leave the site in forward gear, and such 
provision shall be maintained thereafter.

Reason: To reduce potential highway safety impact by ensuring that 
vehicles do not have to reverse to or from the access track  and to ensure 
that a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all people that 
minimises the scope for conflict between traffic is provided in accordance 
with paragraph 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

11.From the commencement of waste importation the site operatives shall 
maintain records of the quantity and type of material accepted at the site 

Page 17



and the number of vehicles bringing materials to the site, the numbers of 
company vehicles and those of authorised third parties.  The records and 
details of the quantity and type of material accepted onto the site shall be 
made available to the Waste Planning Authority at any time within 7 days of 
a written request.  All records shall be kept for at least 24 months. 

Reason: In order that the Waste Planning Authority can monitor the site.

12.No mud or debris from this development shall be deposited on the public 
highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to help prevent mud and 
dust from being carried out onto the highway in accordance with saved 
Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012 and Policy 
WCS19 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy.

Environmental Protection and Pollution Prevention

13.Subject to the approval of the Waste Planning Authority, any facilities for the 
storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious bases and 
surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded compound 
shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is 
multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity 
of the largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks 
or vessels plus 10%. All filling points, associated pipework, vents, gauges 
and sight glasses must be located within the bund or have separate 
secondary containment. The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed 
with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. 
Associated pipework shall be located above ground and protected from 
accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets 
shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with 
Policy 33 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

14.No external lighting shall be installed on this site other than in accordance 
with a written scheme that has been submitted and approved by the Waste 
Planning Authority. Any approved scheme shall be fully implemented.

Reason: To protect local amenity and to ensure that bats are not 
discouraged at this location, in accordance with Local Plan Policy X and 
National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 109, 118, 125 and 143 and 
Policy 13 and 15 of the Waste Core Strategy.

15.No materials shall be burned on site. 

Page 18



Reason: To prevent environmental pollution and in the interests of the 
visual amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the 
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

16.Prior to the commencement of development a scheme to minimise noise 
emissions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of all noise sensitive 
properties (residential, commercial and recreational), noise suppression 
measures and the methods to monitor emissions of noise arising from the 
development. The scheme shall then be implemented as approved with the 
approved noise suppression measures being retained and for the duration 
of the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the 
local environment in accordance with Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan.

17.All plant and machinery shall operate only in the permitted hours and shall 
be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations to 
maintain optimum performance and reduce noise. 

Reason: To control the impact of noise generated by the development in 
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 & 38 of 
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

18.All reversing warning systems used on plant and vehicles on the site shall 
either be non-audible, ambient related or low tone devices.

Reason: To control the impact of noise generated by the development in 
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the 
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

19.Prior to the commencement of development a scheme to minimise dust 
emissions shall be submitted for approval by the Waste Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the 
methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. The 
scheme shall then be implemented as approved with the approved dust 
suppression measures being retained and for the duration of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the 
local environment in accordance with Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan.

20.All laden vehicles entering or leaving the site shall be fully sheeted.

Page 19



Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the 
local environment in accordance with Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan.

21.Prior to the commencement of development a scheme to minimise odour 
emissions shall be submitted for approval by the Waste Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall include details of all odour suppression measures and the 
methods to monitor emissions of odour arising from the development. The 
scheme shall then be implemented as approved with the approved odour 
suppression measures being retained and for the duration of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the 
local environment in accordance with Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan.

Biodiversity

22.The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details and 
measures of the Newt Precautionary Method Statement as set out within 
section 5.1 of the Ecological Assessment by Willder Ecology dated 13th 
February 2018 which are approved. This Method Statement is also to be 
used to protect any reptiles that might unexpectedly be present on site.

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity is conserved and in accordance with 
Policy WCS15 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, National 
Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 17, 109 and 118.

Landscaping

23.No development shall take place until a Landscape and Aftercare 
Management Scheme based on the Landscape Plan drawing 19159-1250-
01 using tree and shrub, species of native and local origin has been 
submitted for approval by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include a planting timetable and details of a perimeter bund, up to 2.5m in 
height, along the western boundary. The scheme shall additionally include 
new hedgerow planting next to the western boundary of the development 
and the scheme shall be implemented as approved by the Waste Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To conserve and enhance landscape and biodiversity value in 
accordance with Policy WCS 14 & 15 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core 

Page 20



Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 17, 109, 118 
and 134.

Restoration and Aftercare Scheme

24.A restoration and aftercare scheme detailing the steps necessary to bring 
the land to a standard suitable for agriculture along with the time period for 
implementation of works shall be submitted for approval by the Waste 
Planning Authority within four years from the date notified to the Waste 
Planning Authority in condition 1. The scheme shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory restoration of the site to agriculture and 
to enhance Green Belt land in accordance with Policy 14 of the Waste Core 
Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 134.

25.The site shall be restored in accordance with the scheme approved under 
condition 24 within 6 months of the cessation of use. 

Reason: To protect the amenities of the local environment and the 
openness of the Green Belt in accordance with Policy WCS 14 & 15 of the 
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy and National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraph 134.

Advice Notes
1. This informative is given as a reminder to help you comply with the Wildlife & 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and avoid possible prosecution. The Act 
makes it an offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird, and to intentionally 
remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use 
or being built. It is also an offence to take or destroy any wild bird eggs. If at 
any time nesting birds are observed on or close to the site in trees, shrubs or 
elsewhere then works which might affect them should cease and advice 
sought from a suitably qualified or experienced person. Works taking place 
between 1st March and 31st August require special care as trees, shrubs or 
certain parts of buildings could harbour nesting birds unless it is reasonably 
determined by observation or survey by an experienced person that nesting 
bird activity is absent. This informative should be passed on to any persons or 
contractors carrying out the development.

2. The Protection of Badgers Act 1992 protects badgers from deliberate harm or 
injury. If badgers or evidence of badgers using the site is discovered during 
operations all work should cease to avoid possible prosecution. A suitably 
qualified ecological consultant should be contacted and the situation 

Page 21



assessed before work can proceed. This informative should be passed on to 
any persons or contractors carrying out the development.

3. In relation to the County Council's Service Level Agreement with the Local 
Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of 
countywide biodiversity, all species and habitat records from the ecological 
work commissioned by the applicant should be copied [if not already] to the 
Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).
It is my view that the above advice is in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, ODPM Circular 06/2005, Natural England's Standing 
Advice, and with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local 
Authorities whilst exercising their functions.

APPENDIX A
Planning Committee report 18/0032/TWMAJW presented to Planning 
Committee 21st March 2019. The report can be viewed: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=258&MId=9
064&Ver=4 

Contact Officer: Denis Canney Senior Planning Officer (01452) 425611

Page 22

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=258&MId=9064&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=258&MId=9064&Ver=4


APPLICATION NO: 18/0073/TWMAJW VALIDATION 
DATE:

28th November 2018

DISTRICT REF:          18/01217/CM 

APPLICANT: Elliott’s (Cheltenham) Limited, Stella Way, Bishop’s Cleeve, 
Cheltenham

AGENT: Land and Mineral Management Limited

SITE: Land off Shurdington Road, Bentham, near Cheltenham

PROPOSAL: Temporary extension to recycling facility yard

PARISH OF: Badgeworth SITE AREA: 0.75 ha 
GRID REF: E: 391242 

N: 218041
RECOMMENDED: That planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons summarised 

in paragraphs 7.67 to 7.71 and planning conditions recommended in 
Section 8.0 of this report, subject to the Secretary of State for the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government not 
‘calling-in’ the application for his determination under the Town and 
Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 as “Green 
Belt development.”

1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1 The application site is a 0.38 ha area of rough scrubland, located immediately 
north east of the Applicant’s existing waste recycling site with a temporary consent 
that permits the recycling of inert building and construction wastes into secondary 
aggregates.  The site is approximately half a kilometre to the south-west of the 
village of Shurdington, on the southern side of Cheltenham.  It is located on the 
north side of the A46, Shurdington Road, approximately 1 km northeast of its 
junction with the A417 and southwest of Badgeworth Lane.  The site is reached by 
an access track leading northwest from Shurdington Road.  The access track is 
also used by an archery club, bee keeper and to access agricultural land and the 
former sandpit site.  A large polytunnel and caravan are located to the north-east 
of the archery range.  The track between the existing site entrance to the highway 
access onto Shurdington Road is approximately 440 metres in length and has a 
recently laid bound surfaced.  The access onto the public highway was improved 
in 2007 to provide visibility splays for the 50 mph speed limit operating in this 
section of the A46. 

1.2 The application site is roughly square shaped and bounded by the access road on 
its north eastern and north-western boundaries.  To the south west is the existing 
site is 4.5 metre high earth screening bund.  To the southeast, the boundary with 
land to the south is indistinct.   

1.3 The application site is surrounded by land which has been subject to mineral 
extraction and restored back to agricultural use, primarily pasture land.  The 
ground is relatively level with a slight fall from east to west from 66.18 metres to 65 
metres above ordnance datum (AOD).  There is a small watercourse flowing in a 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



Page 24



north-westerly direction immediately to the west of the existing waste recycling 
site.  This watercourse meets Normans Brook some 1.4km downstream.  

1.4 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) indicates that the site is within Flood Zone 1, the 
lowest risk category and outside a Groundwater Source Protection Zone.

1.5 No public rights of way (PROW) cross the site but the Gloucestershire Way runs 
alongside the site access track for approximately 300 metres.  Another PROW 
passes the southern corner of the site, running east-west before joining the 
Gloucestershire Way closer to Shurdington Road.

1.6 The nearest residential properties to the application site are on Badgeworth Lane, 
over 250 metres to the north and east of the site.  The Paddocks, situated off 
Badgeworth Lane is the closest property at 200 metres north of the application 
site.  To the north and opposite the site entrance is an archery range (Deer Park 
Archery) with its associated structures and car park.  On land to the north east of 
the archery range is a polytunnel and caravan.  The land and buildings 
approximately 200 metres east of the application site are associated with a 
beekeeper whose business is known as ‘Easybees’.  The access track up to the 
waste site and archery range has a tarmac surfaced, but is unsurfaced beyond the 
waste site.  The Applicant also owns a parcel of land immediately adjacent to the 
southern boundary of the application site, which appears to be unused agricultural 
pasture land.  On the southern side of Shurdington Road, opposite the access 
road is The Dawn Nurseries garden centre/plant nursery and the office 
headquarters of an insurance company is located closer to the junction with the 
A417.

1.7 The site lies outside the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  
The AONB boundary lies approximately 350 metres to the east of the application 
site and is situated to the east of A46, Shurdington Road.  The site lies within the 
Cheltenham and Gloucester Green Belt.  The nearest designated nature 
conservation site is Crickley Hill and Barrow Wake SSSI located approximately 
2km to the south east.

2.0 Description of Development

2.1 The proposal involves the extension of the existing waste recycling site onto some 
unused scrubland adjacent to the eastern site boundary.  The purpose is 
described in the Applicant’s supporting statement as not seeking “to alter the 
existing development in any way, other than creating an enlarged recycling area 
so that there is more operational space to undertake the permitted operations and 
to reposition the existing picking station”.  

2.2 The Applicant acknowledges in the Supporting Statement that the site is within the 
Green Belt and considers that the very special circumstances which apply to the 
proposed extension are as follows:

“Economic, Environmental and Wider Sustainability Benefits

 The extension of the facility is necessary to improve the efficiency of the 
operation, helping Gloucestershire to meet Waste Framework Directive 
recovery targets and landfill diversion targets. The National Planning Policy 

Page 25



for Waste highlights the essential need to deliver a sustainable and efficient 
waste management system, which drives waste management up the waste 
hierarchy. The proposal will improve an existing facility, helping to increase 
recycling levels, in so doing will further the site’s contribution towards 
meeting the county’s waste management needs. 

 The proposal will help safeguard the retention of the existing recycling 
facility which benefits the local economy and community. 

 The locational needs of this recycling facility which requires an outside open 
area away from sensitive land uses such as housing or schools. The site is 
set within the open countryside, a suitable distance away from the nearest 
dwellings (the nearest The Paddocks being approximately 200 metres 
away). An assessment of alternative non-green belt sites was provided for 
the consented facility. This found that there are no available alternative sites 
with these characteristics outside the green belt.”

2.3 In order to satisfy Waste Core Strategy policy WCS13, it is necessary to first 
consider the ‘harm’ to the green belt, and secondly, consider countervailing 
benefits served by the development to establish whether they clearly outweigh the 
harm to amount to very special circumstances.  This assessment is provided in the 
following table: 

Development 
component: 

Harm to the Green belt caused 
by the development: 

Benefits served by the 
development: 

Extension of the site 
including the provision 
of surrounding earth 
bunds and landscape 
planting 

Traffic No effect 
on the 
openness 
of the 
Green 
belt. 
Traffic 
levels will 
remain 
unchange
d. 

Cumulativ
e impact 
of 
extension 
including 
bund and 
landscapi
ng 

No harm 
to the 
openness 
of the 
Green belt 
due to 
mitigation 
in the 
form of 
screening 
bund and 

No harm to the openness of the 
Green belt. Limited effect on the 
local landscape features and in 
the medium to long term, with 
the mitigation measures in 
place, there will be a ‘Negligible’ 
or ‘Slight Beneficial’ effect in 
relation to land-use, vegetation, 
landscape character, landscape 
quality and landscape policy. 

Will improve the efficiency of 
the operation. 
Beneficial to the wider 
sustainable waste management 
system for Gloucestershire. 
The operation is entirely 
consistent with the waste 
hierarchy principle and will 
maintaining a valuable 
[composting] service. 
It will help to meet waste 
recovery and landfill diversion 
targets. 
There are no alternative ‘non’ 
Green belt sites for the 
development. 
Enhanced screening and 
landscaping. 

Page 26



landscapi
ng. 

2.4 An extension of the existing site would also necessitate the relocation of the 
existing eastern site boundary bund to provide access to the site and extending 
the existing earth bunds onto the proposed extension site up to 4.5 metres in 
height to fully enclose the extension site.  This extension area would be associated 
with the sorting of skip waste.  The picking station approved in September 2017 is 
proposed to be relocated 41 metres east of its current approved position onto an 
extended concrete pad in the proposed extension area.  The picking station is a 
steel framed structure with an overall footprint of 72 square metres finished in dark 
green.  It measures 18 metres in length, by 4 metres wide.  The structure is open 
sided with profiled steel cladding to the walls with a mono-pitch steel roof which is 
6.5 metres high at its apex.  The canopied roof provides a covering for an 
automated conveyor which allows employees to hand sort skip waste into 4 
storage skips located in bays below and to the front of the structure.  The non inert 
waste is separated and bulked up for recycling or disposal to landfill.  

2.5 Existing waste recycling operations on site involve the sorting of unprocessed 
construction and demolition waste material.  Crushing and screening operations 
take place on site on a campaign basis, on four occasions for a 2 weekly period 
each year (totalling 8 weeks a year) but are not proposed for the extension site.  
The crushing and screening is limited by planning condition and requires the 
Applicant to notify the Waste Planning Authority (WPA) in advance.  The site does 
not have any permanent fixed crushing plant.  Mobile plant is brought to the site 
for each two week processing period.  The site employs 5 staff, although up to 9 
staff may be present during crushing campaigns.  

2.6 The existing waste management site is permitted to process up to 40,000 tonnes 
of waste material such as soils, bricks and rubble a year of which a maximum of 
5,000 tonnes can be non-inert waste such as wood and plastics.  This temporary 
permission will expire on 19th October 2026.  No other modification to operations 
or site activities is proposed with throughput and vehicle numbers remaining the 
same.

2.7 Screening bunds have been constructed around the majority of the site and a 
developing hedgerow has been planted along the toe of the bund.  The Applicant 
is proposing further planting by reinforcing the hedge planting with additional tree 
planting at 10 metre intervals along the hedge.  

2.8 A Noise Impact Assessment on behalf of the Applicant has been prepared by 
Acoustics & Noise Limited, dated 30/10/2018 to investigate sound levels at the site 
and assess the potential change in noise impact due to the proposed extension of 

Page 27



the site with potential for mitigation if required.  The assessment considers the 
change in noise level at ‘The Paddocks’, the nearest sound sensitive property 
which is located 245m to the north of the existing site boundary and properties in 
Badgeworth Lane which are located a further 40m from the site boundary.

2.9 The assessment concludes that the proposed modification to the site indicate that 
there would be no change to the assessed impact during the picker/recycler phase 
of operations.  The relocation of the picking station close to the northern extension 
site boundary was considered by the Applicant’s Acoustic Consultant to maximise 
the attenuation afforded by the relocated bund resulting in a slightly beneficial 
impact.  

2.10 A FRA by Amber Planning, dated November 2018 was submitted by the Applicant 
to evaluate the background hydrology, assess the risks of flooding from all 
sources and consider surface water drainage requirements for the extended site.  
The report concludes that all potential flood risks are considered to be low and the 
provision of a surface water management system which includes attenuation 
storage controlled discharge and waste quality treatment will ensure that potential 
detrimental impacts are suitably mitigated.  

2.11 Surface water from the concrete pad would be collected within a sealed storage 
tank.  This has been appropriately sized to accommodate storms of up to the 6 
hour 1 in 100 year event.  In addition surface water run off from the earth bunds 
would be discharged into a swale feature which would restrict flows to the pre-
development greenfield rate to prevent flooding of the nearby watercourse.

2.12 A Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVA) was prepared by the Applicant’s 
consultant Bridge Design Associates, dated November 2018.  The landscape 
character falls within Natural England’s character assessment of ‘Severn and 
Avon Vales’ and ‘settled and unwooded vale’ of the ‘Vale of Gloucester’ area of 
the Gloucestershire Landscape Character Assessment.  The proposed extension 
site is considered in the LVA to have a ‘slight adverse’ effect in the short term and 
‘negligible’ landscape effect in the medium to long term.  There is considered to be 
little vegetation of any amenity value within the proposed extension site although 
some existing planting along the toe of the bund proposed to be relocated that 
would be lost.  However the proposal is to mitigate this loss with new planting of 
native trees and hedging which would bring about a ‘slight beneficial’ effect in the 
long term.  The LVA recognises that the bunding is out of keeping with the local 
landscape character together with the existing recycling facility but considered the 
extended bunded would be well absorbed within the vegetated structure of the 
local field pattern in the medium to long term.  In the medium to long term the 
proposed extension will have a predominantly ‘negligible’ or ‘slight beneficial' 
landscape effects.  The LVA produced on behalf of the Applicant does not 
consider the proposal compromises the purposes of the Green Belt.

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening

2.13 The proposed development falls into Schedule 2 of the EIA Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) whereby an EIA may be required to accompany a planning application 
due to the potential significant effects of the development.  An environmental 
statement did not accompany the application; as such the WPA carried out a 
screening opinion to establish if there was a need for an EIA to be carried out.  In 

Page 28



determining whether or not a development may have significant effects and 
require EIA, consideration has to be made to the scale, location and nature of the 
development.  It would not, in the opinion of the WPA, be likely that the use of the 
proposed site as an extension of the waste management operations of the existing 
site would have a significant effect on the environment in terms of the requirement 
for an EIA.  The proposed continuation of the existing earth screening bunds up to 
4.5 metres and landscape planting scheme at the toe of the bund should, in time, 
provide additional screening to distant views of the site from the AONB as well as 
more proximate views from the  local PROW.  It is not considered that the 
relocated plant which would operate from the extension site would have a 
significant environmental impact on the surrounding environment or nearby 
designation (Cotswold AONB) as to warrant the production of an EIA.   An EIA 
was therefore not requested.  This screening opinion was adopted by the WPA on 
29th November 2018.

Further Information Submitted 14th January 2019

2.14 The Applicant submitted a letter from their consultants, Amber Planning – Flood 
Risk Hydrology, dated 14th January 2019 which confirmed the increase in surface 
water storage on site by increasing the size of the tank to 130m3 and that 
discharges from the swale serving the bunded areas would be fitted with a flow 
control to reduce the risk of blockage in response to issues raised by GCC’s Flood 
Risk Management Team during consultation.

Further Information Submitted 29th January 2019

2.15 The Applicant submitted drawing reference: 710-14 – Final Restoration Proposals, 
dated 16.1.19 and separate notes by Bridges Design Associates Ltd, dated 16th 
January 2019 in response to the landscape issues raised during the consultation 
period.  The drawing showed that the site bunds would be retained along with the 
landscape screening.

Further Information Submitted 20th February 2019

2.16 The Applicant submitted revised drawing 710-14A – Final Restoration Proposals, 
dated 19.2.19 with a covering email of the 20th February 2019 which proposes the 
bunds would be removed as part of the site restoration.  

“With regards to landscape, please find attached a revised restoration plan 
showing the bunds removed, which I understand is the Council’s preferred option. 
The plan includes management notes relating to the site’s first five years stating 
that the land will be used for animal grazing or as a traditional hay meadow.  As 
you know the land itself is owned by Nick Elliott and will be farmed by him or 
leased to another farmer. The arrangements for this are not in place yet as this it is 
still some time off. 

The Landscape & Visual Assessment submitted with the planning application 
confirms that the landscape planting is ‘establishing’, which as you know can take 
time initially, therefore I consider that a further assessment of the approved 
landscape mitigation is not necessary for you to determine this application. I 
understand that the planting and management has and is being undertaken in line 
with the extant permission - 15/0053/TWMAJW (i.e. measures set out in 710.03A - 

Page 29



Landscape Proposals dated 30.9.2015 and paragraph 4.22 of the Supporting 
Statement dated 30th June 2015* and conditions 30 and 36. Also, in accordance 
with condition 37 Elliott’s will replace any plants that have died or become 
seriously damaged or defective by 2022 of a similar size and species.”

*Hedgerow management will include:

§ Prohibiting the use of fertilizers, herbicides and pesticides at the hedgerow 
base to avoid damage to plant and animals.
§ Cutting the hedgerows on a two or three-year cycle in January or February 
to maintain a good hedgerow structure and prevent thinning at the base of the 
hedge.
§ Incrementally increasing the height of the cut by 10cm each time to allow the 
hedge to progress slowly through its natural growth cycle and promote the 
establishment of a dense healthy hedgerow.
§ When it is ready to be rejuvenated, laying or coppicing the hedgerow as 
required.

2.17 The email sent on 20.02.2019 also responds to issues raised by the Policy Officer 
as follows: 

“Extant permission 15/0053/TWMAJW has established the very special 
circumstances for the site’s existence up to 2026, thus no further justification is 
necessary in that regard and these circumstances remain relevant to the proposed 
extension area. The additional space is required to provide more room for 
permitted operations and site circulation thus improving site safety and efficiency. 
The proposal creates an improved recycling area with more operational space for 
vehicles to manoeuvre and discharge and collect loads avoiding conflicting vehicle 
movements and minimising the need for reversing and allowing better segregation 
of vehicles and pedestrians (operatives). Also, it will enable more types of waste 
(from that which is already accepted at the site) to be segregated by type for 
recycling. 

The Noise Report that accompanies the application has found that by repositioning 
the existing picking station to the new location proposed this will help reduce noise 
(it will have a slightly beneficial noise impact at the nearest sensitive noise 
receptor).”

Further Information Submitted 11th March 2019

2.18 The Applicant submitted a “Supplement to LVIA (June 2016) – Final Restoration 
Proposals”  by Bridge Design Associates Limited, dated 7th March 2019 to assess 
the two options of retaining and removing the screening bunds on the Green Belt 
following the closure of the site as requested by the County’s Landscape Advisor.  
The Applicant’s Landscape advisor’s conclusion is that both options will result in a 
small field or paddock enclosed by vegetation. “It is considered that both options 
will integrate successfully into the local landscape setting and will not prejudice the 
openness of the Green Belt.”

Further Information Submitted 12th March 2019

Page 30



2.19 The Applicant submitted summary information on the amount of material which left 
the site by month shown as inert and non-inert tonnages.  This showed a total of 
32,746 tonnes of recycled material left the site in 2018 of which 3,434 tonnes was 
non-inert.  No data was supplied to show the amount of waste which entered the 
site in the same period.  The Applicant advised that there was no accurate data 
available for 2017 but did not explain the reason.   

2.20 The Applicant supplied summary information of the total numbers of commercial 
vehicle movements by month in 2018 and showed by dividing by the number of 
working days in each month, the average daily movements to and from the site.  
This showed an average maximum of 113 movements per day in July 2018 and a 
minimum of 25 movements per day in December 2018. 

3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 The application site and the Applicant’s nearby sandpit is part of an area which 
has a lengthy planning history of mineral extraction dating back to 1960.  The 
history of waste recycling began on site in 2007.

Planning Reference Development Description Decision & Date

T.3245 Sand extraction and access Refused 19th March 
1960

T.3245/a Sand extraction and access Refused 20th 
September 1960

T.3245/b Sand extraction and improvement of 
existing access to A46.

Granted 19th 
December 1961

T.3245/c Extension to sand extraction Granted 18th 
September 1962

T.3245/d Asphalt plant for 24 months for M5 
motorway construction

Granted 25th July 
1969

T.5880 Extension to sand extraction Granted 31st 
January 1972

T.3245/E Storage of aggregates, batch plant and 
septic tank

Refused 20th 
September 1970

T.6818 Tipping to raise levels by 1.5240m to 
improve drainage

Granted 6th March 
1978

T.3245/C/1 Tipping for restoration of mineral 
workings to agriculture

Granted 21st 
September 1978

T.3245/I Sand extraction and restoration by inert 
tipping

Granted 23rd 
November 1979

T.3245/G Concrete batching plant and alteration to 
access.

Dismissed at appeal 
on 16th January 
1980

T.5880/A/1 Retention of weighbridge and office 
(T.5880)

Granted 15th July 
1980 (until 31/03/82)

T.3245/J Tipping of inert material to restore to 
agriculture

Refused 16th 
September 1981

Page 31



T.3245/K Extension to tip to raise level of field Granted 1982

T.5880/A/2 Retention of weighbridge and office 
(T.5880)

Granted 10th 
February 1983 (until 
31/12/83)

T.1762/B Mineral extraction and restoration by 
tipping

Granted 21st 
December 1983

T.7748 Mineral extraction and restoration by 
tipping

Withdrawn

T.7748/A Mineral extraction and restoration by 
tipping

Refused 25th 
September 1984

T.7748/B Mineral extraction and restoration by 
tipping

Granted 26th 
February 1986

T.3245/M Compound connected with mineral 
extraction

Granted 27th 
February 1986

T.3245/F/1 Retention of weighbridge and office 
(T5880)

Granted 26th 
February 1986 (until 
31/12/93)

T.3245/C/1
T.3245/K, 
T.3245/I

12 month extension to tipping to allow 
satisfactory agricultural restoration.

Granted 21st 
November 1990

94/7748/0401/FUL Extraction of Sand Granted 4th July 
1994 (until 4th July 
1999)

94/3245/0402/FUL Retention of compound Granted 4th July 
1994 (until 4th July 
1999)

94/3245/0403/FUL Retention of weighbridge and office Granted 4th July 
1994 (until 4th July 
1999)

96/7748/0847/FUL Variation to permit screening and 
crushing of waste.

Granted 5th 
November 1996

96/9958/0953/FUL Mineral extraction and restoration by 
tipping

Granted 17th 
December 1996

T/98/3245/1381/FUL Retention of compound Granted 4th March 
1999 (until 04/04/03)

T/98/3245/1379/FUL Retention of weighbridge and office Granted 4th March 
1999 (until 04/04/03)

T/99/3245/0640/FUL Extension of bund Refused 12th 
November 1999

T/01/9958/1197/FUL Area for Screening and Crushing in 
connection with Back Filling of Sand 
Extraction

Granted 1st May 
2002

T/03/3245/1058/FUL Extension of planning to complete sand 
extraction, backfilling & recycling of inert 
waste, storage compound & weighbridge.

Refused 15th July 
2003

Enforcement Notice to cease extraction, 
inert infilling and recycling operations and 
restore the site.  

Issued 3rd December 
2004

07/0016/TWMAJM
Sand extraction and ancillary 
development with restoration back to 

Granted 22 August 
2007

Page 32



original levels by infilling with inert 
materials.

Restoration by 09 
August 2016

07/0015/TWMAJW Recycling of inert waste with ancillary 
development

Granted 22 August 
2007. Restoration by 
22 August 2013

10/0116/TWMAJW Variation of conditions 2, 3, 14, & 15 of 
07/0015/TWMAJW 

Granted 21 July 
2011
Restoration by 
6/6/14

14/0046/TWMAJW Variation of condition 2 (Duration) of 
planning reference: 10/0116/TWMAJW 
dated 21/07/2011 [Variation of conditions 
2, 3, 14  &15 of planning permission 
07/0015/TWMAJW dated 22nd August 
2007 [Recycling of inert waste with 
ancillary development]; to extend the life 
of the site until 31st December 2016

Temporary 
permission (12 
months) granted on 
21.8.2014 until 
21.8.2015

14/0093/COMPLI Compliance with condition 26 (updated 
dust suppression scheme required) 
relating to planning permission 
14/0046/TWMAJW consent dated 
21/08/2014.

Scheme approved 
5.12.2014

15/0053/TWMAJW Retention of the Waste Transfer Station 
by removal of condition 2 of temporary 
planning permission 14/0046/TWMAJW 
dated 21/08/2014 which limited the life of 
the site until 21 August 2015

Consent

19.10.2016 until 
19.10.2026

16/0058/TWMAJM Variation of condition 2 of planning 
permission reference: 
07/0016/TWMAJM, granted on 
22/08/2007 [for sand extraction and 
ancillary development with restoration 
back to original levels by infilling with 
inert material]; to permit the extraction of 
sand until 31 October 2016 and 
restoration of the site by 31st August 
2018.

Consent 
15.9.16

16/0107/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 3 
(Restoration and Aftercare Scheme), 8 
(Weighbridge scheme), 10 (Detailed plan 
of the skip waste processing area), 18 
(Detailed waste acceptance protocol), 19 
(Highway Safety), 20 (Cleaning and 
maintenance regime) and 21 (Traffic 
signage) of planning consent 
15/0053/TWMAJW dated 19/10/2016.

Compliance with 
Condition(s)

31.01.2017

17/0075/TWMAJW Variation of condition 4 (Scope of the 
permission) and 10 (detailed plan of the 
skip waste processing area) of planning 
consent 15/0053/TWMAJW dated 
19/10/2016 [Retention of the Waste 
Transfer Station by removal of condition 
2 of temporary planning permission 
14/0046/TWMAJW dated 21/08/2014 
which limited the life of the site until 21 

Consent

29.09.2017

Page 33



August 2015].
17/0081/TWMAJW Erection of a picking station 

(retrospective)
Consent

29.09.2017
17/0118/COMPLI Compliance with condition 4 (Colour 

finish of picking station) of planning 
consent 17/0081/TWMAJW dated 
29/09/2017.

Compliance with 
Condition(s)
17.11.2017

3.2 The Applicant has confirmed on the 11th March 2019 that the sandpit (under 
planning permission reference 16/0058/TWMAJM and not related to this planning 
application) has been restored and the land rented to a farmer who is responsible 
for the site.  The  Senior Planning Officer (Monitoring) visited the site on 14th 
March 2019 and advised that the landform created by the restoration blends well 
with the surrounding landscape and that material used as topsoil would appear 
capable of promoting an agricultural afteruse.  He advised that there remained a 
small area to the east of the site which contains a stockpile of soil awaiting the 
spreading of this top soil when the weather improves.  The Monitoring Officer will 
be carrying out a further site visit to check that the site has been restored in 
accordance with the approved restoration scheme in planning permission 
16/0058/TWMAJM.

4.0 PLANNING POLICY

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) originally published in March 
2012 has been revised and replaces the original NPPF as of July 2018.  This 
revised document sets out the Government’s planning policies and how these 
should be applied with immediate effect.  The NPPF is a material consideration in 
planning decisions and must be taken into account.

4.2 Paragraph 7 advises that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development.  Sustainable development means that 3 
overarching objectives of building a strong and competitive economy, maintaining 
healthy and vibrant communities and protecting the environment need to be 
pursued.  

4.3 Paragraph 11 advises that decision takers should apply a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development by:  approving development proposals that accord with 
an up to date development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant 
development plan policies or the policies are out of date, granting permission 
unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the proposed 
development or any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF taken as a whole.

4.4 Paragraph 83 supports the rural economy allowing for sustainable growth and 
expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both through conversion of 
existing buildings and well designed new buildings, as well as the diversification of 
agricultural and other land based rural businesses.

Page 34



4.5 Paragraph 108 advises in assessing proposals for development it should be 
ensured that a safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users, 
while paragraph 109 requires development should not be refused on highway 
grounds unless there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

4.6 Great weight is given in paragraph 172 to conserving and enhancing landscape 
and scenic beauty of AONBs which have the highest status of protection.

4.7 Paragraph 175 requires the protection and enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity and in determining applications should avoid significant harm through 
locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts, mitigate or as a last resort 
compensated otherwise permission should be refused.

4.8 Paragraph 180 advises that planning decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely effects of 
pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the 
potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from 
the development.  In so doing they should mitigate and reduce to a minimum 
potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development and avoid 
noise giving rise to significant adverse impact on health and the quality of life.  

4.9 The focus of planning decisions should be on whether the proposed development 
is an acceptable use of land rather than the control of processes or emissions 
where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes.  Planning decisions 
should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.

4.10 The NPPF does not contain specific waste policies as these are published in the 
National Planning Policy for Waste (Oct 2014) as part of the National Waste 
Management Plan for England.

4.11 Chapter 13 of the NPPF deals with the Government’s policy on the Green Belt.  
The fundamental aim remains the same being:

“The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts.  The fundamental aim 
of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; 
the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence” 

Green Belt serves five purposes: 
 to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
 to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
 to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
 to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
 to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land.

4.12 Paragraph 143 states that “Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to 
the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.”

Page 35



4.13 Paragraph 144 requires local planning authorities “when considering any planning 
application to ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green 
Belt.  ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.”  

4.14 Paragraph 145 advises that a local planning authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt.  Exceptions to 
this are:
a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land 

or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial 
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and 
not materially larger than the one it replaces;

e) limited infilling in villages;
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in 

the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 

land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 

development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 

development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to 
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local 
planning authority.

4.15 Paragraph 146 advises that certain other forms of development are also not 
inappropriate in the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These are:

a) mineral extraction;
b) engineering operations;
c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green 

Belt location;
d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and 

substantial construction;
e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or 

recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and
f) development brought forward under a Community Right to Build Order or 

Neighbourhood Development Order.

National Planning Policy for Waste 

4.16 The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) was published in October 2014 
setting out detailed waste planning policies which should be read in conjunction 
with the NPPF.  All WPAs should have regard to its policies when discharging their 

Page 36



responsibilities in relation to waste management.  The NPPW was published after 
the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy was adopted.  

4.17 Paragraph 6 of the NPPW confirms that Green Belts have special protection and 
urges WPAs to first look for sites for waste management facilities outside of the 
Green Belt, that if located in the Green Belt it would be inappropriate development.  

4.18 WPAs are also asked not to concern themselves with the control of processes 
which are a matter for the pollution control authorities.  WPAs should work on the 
assumption that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and 
enforced. 

4.19 It should be noted that ‘Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England’ was a 
strategy produced by DEFRA and the EA in December 2018 to eliminate 
avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. It does not replace the NPPW.

Gloucestershire County Council Waste Core Strategy 

4.20 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
the planning application must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of this 
application, the development plan includes the Waste Core Strategy, 
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and the Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy.  Gloucestershire’s Waste Core Strategy (WCS), 
adopted on 21st November 2012 provides a planning framework for waste 
management across the county of Gloucestershire in the period 2012 - 2027.  It 
identifies a vision, objectives and strategy relevant to Gloucestershire compliant 
with the NPPF.   

Core Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work 
proactively with Applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can 
be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where 
relevant, with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out 
of date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:

• Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole; 
or

• Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be 
restricted.

Page 37



Core Policy WCS4 – Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery

In order to help reduce the impact of landfill and achieve the requirements of the 
Waste Framework Directive (2008) the Council will aim to divert around 85,000 
tonnes/year of inert waste from landfill through recycling and recovery operations.

Proposals for inert waste recycling and recovery facilities will be permitted where it 
can be demonstrated that:

1. The impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses is acceptable 
including detailed assessment of the impact of noise and dust and attenuation 
measures.

2. Where viable, the proposal incorporates the use of alternatives to road transport 
such as rail and water and that where road transport is used the highway access is 
suitable for the proposed vehicle movements and is supported by a transport 
assessment and travel plan setting out measures to encourage employees to 
reach the site by foot, cycle or public transport.

3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste management 
system for Gloucestershire.

4. If the proposal is permanent and of a ‘strategic’ scale (>50,000 tonnes/year) it is 
located in the area defined as ‘Zone C’ (see Key Diagram) except where located 
within an existing or disused mineral working.

Developments may be acceptable on existing waste management sites and 
mineral workings where it can be demonstrated that the minimum amount of 
materials are being used for restoration/engineering purposes and that the use will 
not unduly prejudice the agreed restoration principles and timescale for the site. 
Temporary developments may be acceptable where the material is recycled and 
re-used on site.

WCS13 Green Belt

There will be a presumption against proposals for waste management that 
amounts to inappropriate development within the Gloucester – Cheltenham Green 
Belt except where it can be demonstrated that there are ‘very special 
circumstances’. 

‘Very special circumstances’ to justify inappropriate waste development proposals 
will not exist unless the totality of the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm 
can be clearly outweighed by other considerations.

WCS14 – Landscape

General Landscape
Proposals for waste development will be permitted where they do not have a 
significant adverse effect on the local landscape as identified in the Landscape 
Character Assessment or unless the impact can be mitigated. Where significant 

Page 38



adverse impacts cannot be fully mitigated, the social, environmental and economic 
benefits of the proposal must outweigh any harm arising from the impacts.

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
Proposals for waste development within or affecting the setting of the Cotswolds, 
Wye Valley and Malvern Hills Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) will 
only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
 There is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the market 

need; and
 The impact on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the relevant 

management plan (including the landscape setting and recreational 
opportunities) can be satisfactorily mitigated; and

 The proposal complies with other relevant development plan policies.

In the case of major development within the AONB, a proven public interest must 
be demonstrated.  Planning permission will only be granted in exceptional 
circumstances following the most rigorous examination and subject to the criteria 
above.

The County Council will continue to work in partnership with the respective AONB 
Conservation Boards and/or Joint Advisory Committees to help deliver the vision 
and objectives of the AONB Management Plans and Waste Core Strategy (WCS).

Core Policy WCS15 – Nature Conservation (Biodiversity & Geodiversity)

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and National Nature Reserves (NNR) will 
be safeguarded from inappropriate waste management development.  Planning 
permission for waste management development within or outside a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) or National Nature Reserve (NNR) will only be granted 
where it can be demonstrated that:

 The development would not conflict with the conservation, management and 
enhancement of the site unless the harmful aspects can be satisfactorily 
mitigated; and

 The benefit of the development clearly outweighs the impacts that the 
proposal would have on the key features of the site; and

 The proposal complies with other relevant policies of the development plan; 
and

 In the case of a SSSI, there would be no broader impact on the national 
network of SSSIs.

Local nature conservation designations will also be safeguarded from 
inappropriate development and planning permission will only be granted for 
development affecting such designations where it can be demonstrated that the 
impact of the development can be satisfactorily mitigated and that the benefit of 
the development clearly outweighs any impact.

Development proposals will be required to assess their impact on the natural 
environment and make a contribution to local nature conservation targets to 
ensure net gain for biodiversity.

Page 39



Proposals that incorporate beneficial biodiversity or geological features into their 
design and layout will be favourably considered particularly where the proposal 
would result in a positive contribution to a Strategic Nature Area (SNA) as 
identified on the Nature Map for Gloucestershire.

WCS18 – Bulking and Transfer

In order to promote greater efficiency and to reduce the potential impact of 
transporting waste by road, particularly on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) the 
Council will support in principle, proposals relating to the development of new and 
expanded bulking and transfer facilities.

Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:
1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and neighbouring 

land uses is acceptable.
2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste management 

system for Gloucestershire.

Particular support will be given to proposals that:
 Are located within or close to an urban area; and/or
 Involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant or underutilised 

employment land and/or redundant rural buildings including farm 
diversification opportunities; and / or 

 Involve co-location with an existing operation of a similar or complimentary 
nature; and/or

 Incorporate alternatives to the transport of waste by road (rail, water etc.), 
and/or

 Are well located to allow employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public 
transport.

Core Policy WCS19 – Sustainable Transport

In the interests of sustainable development and minimising the impact of waste 
management on Gloucestershire's roads and the wider natural and historic 
environment, proposals for waste-related development that utilize alternative 
modes of transport such as rail and water will be positively supported. This is 
subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies and the 
contribution to a sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.

Any development exceeding the thresholds set out in the Department for 
Transport publication 'Guidance on Transport Assessment' must be supported by 
a Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan. Consideration will also be had to 
the location of the proposed development in determining whether a TA is required.

Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway network which 
cannot be mitigated will not be permitted. 

Where a Travel Plan is required the developer will be expected to enter into a 
Section 106 or unilateral legal agreement to secure the development of the travel 

Page 40



plan and any contributions required to support its implementation. A contribution 
towards costs of monitoring the travel plan will also be required.

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012 (adopted October 2004)

4.21 The Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (WLP) was adopted in October 2004.  
However, following the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government’s Direction (dated 5 October 2007) the following WLP policies are 
‘saved’ until replaced by Development Plan Documents contained in the Minerals 
and Waste Development Frameworks. The Adoption of the WCS replaced a 
number of these saved policies.    However, the saved policies of the WLP that are 
still in force as part of the development plan and which are considered consistent 
with the NPPF are:

Policy 33: Water Resources – Pollution Control:

Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be no 
unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or 
groundwater resources.

Policy 37: Proximity to other Land Uses:

Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such 
matters as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and 
health, the countryside, the traditional landscape character of Gloucestershire, the 
local highway network, any hazardous installation or substance and any adverse 
cumulative effect in combination with other development in the area. Where 
appropriate, suitable ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in the proposals. 
Proposals to mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, 
vermin, leachate and flue emissions.

Policy 38: Hours of Operation:

The Waste Planning Authority will where appropriate impose a condition restricting 
hours of operation on waste management facilities to protect amenity.

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 

4.22 Tewkesbury Borough Council formally adopted the JCS on 5th December 2017 to 
guide development up to 2031 in partnership with Gloucester City and 
Cheltenham Borough Councils.  There are not considered to be any ‘saved’ 
policies from the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan 2006 relevant to this 
application.  The Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011 to 2031 is an emerging 
document which forms part of the JCS and is therefore emerging policy.  
According to the NPPF, limited weight should be given to the emerging policy 
document as it progresses towards adoption.  There are no policies within the 
Borough Plan with relevance to this proposal, but the following policies of the JCS 
are considered to be relevant:

Policy SD5 - Green Belt;
Policy SD6 – General Landscape;
Policy SD9 - Wildlife Habitat – Biodiversity

Page 41



5.0 PUBLICITY

5.1 The application was publicised by site notice dated 6th December 2018 and a 
public notice was placed in the Gloucestershire Echo on the 6th December 2018 
with a closing date for comments of 7th January 2019.  

5.2 56 neighbour notification letters were sent to properties in the vicinity of the 
proposed development on 3rd December 2018 with a closing date for comments of 
7th January 2019.  Five representations have been received to date.  There are 
four objections and one neutral representation to the proposal. 

Summary of Representations:

5.3 Objections received raise the following issues:
 

 Impacts on peaceful enjoyment of house and garden due to compounding 
current unacceptable issues by moving the site closer to residential 
properties.  

 There is existing noise from vehicles, processing machinery which does not 
comply with policy.  The lack of complaints does not mean that there aren’t 
still problems.  

 The site needs to be restored to agriculture use not to expand operations.  
 The extension is not small in relation to the existing site and can expect an 

increase in waste handled in future.  
 None of the assessments acknowledge the existence of properties along 

Badgeworth Lane apart from The Paddocks.  This does not take account of 
prevailing wind direction.  

 The facility should never have been permitted as residents continually suffer 
from noise, dust, smoke and frequent heavy lorries.  

 Nine years is not temporary.  
 Concern expressed about the construction period and effectiveness of 

mitigation proposed.  
 The landscaping has not been carried out as required by planning 

conditions and nothing has been done to enhance the area.  
 Waste storage can be seen from the AONB and is in the Green Belt.
 The number of vehicles entering the site is uncontrolled and will increase 

with an increase in the size of the site.  
 There is continued use of Badgeworth Lane by lorries in spite of the 

Applicant’s promises.
 The condition of the A46 outside the site is unacceptable as roadside gullies 

and kerbs are overflowing with dirt from vehicles leaving the site and 
blocked drains cause flooding into Whitelands Lane.  

5.4 Other neutral comments received relate to:

 The road surface on the access road has cut down the noise and dust.  
 There have been some lorries at 06:30 hours; however these could be 

associated with the Beeman or the Archery Centre.

Amendment to Land Ownership Certificate 

Page 42



5.5 When the application was first submitted, Certificate A was completed confirming 
that all the land was within the Applicant’s ownership and control.  However 
following the subsequent discovery that the access road was not wholly controlled 
by the Applicant and some owners were unknown, a revised Certificate C has 
been submitted and a public notice placed in the Gloucestershire Echo on 28th 
February 2019 advising any person who has an interest in the land to come 
forward by 21st March 2019.  At the time of writing the report, no further land 
owners were forthcoming as a result of the further publicity.

6.0 CONSULTATIONS  

Tewkesbury Borough Council

6.1 The Borough Council does not agree “that there would be "no harm" to the 
openness of the Green Belt.  The openness of the Green Belt has a spatial aspect 
as well as visual aspect and that the absence of visual intrusion does not in itself 
mean that there is no impact on openness of the Green Belt.  The landscape 
bunds will themselves materially impact on the openness of the Green Belt as 
would the proposed structures within the operational area.  Your attention is drawn 
to the Council's Environmental Health advisor consultation response which 
stipulates the 'noise bund' should be to a height of 4.5 metres.  However, it is 
noted that the Applicant accepts their proposal is inappropriate development 
requiring very special circumstances.  Provided that the County Council accept 
that the Applicants' case for very special circumstances in respect of the extant 
planning consent remain valid and (together with the additional proposed vsc's) 
relevant to the current proposal, the Borough Council does not consider it 
unreasonable to conclude very special circumstances have been demonstrated in 
respect of the current application.  It is material that the existing planning consent 
is time limited and subject to a planning condition requiring the site be restored to 
its former agricultural condition.  Therefore the associated harms would exist for a 
limited time.

It would be necessary to repeat conditions (including the time limit and restoration 
conditions) from the existing planning permission, as well as any other condition 
relating to the current proposal.  It is noted that the applicant’s' planning statement 
makes no reference to the relevant Joint Core Strategy (December 2017) and 
Tewkesbury Local Plan (March 2006) Polices.”

Environmental Health Officer for Tewkesbury Borough Council

6.2 The Environmental Health Officer commented that, “The noise assessment 
submitted by 'Acoustics and Noise Ltd' predicts that the noise levels from the 
proposed extension and subsequent relocation of the picking line at Shurdington 
Recycling, Shurdington Road will have no adverse effect upon sound sensitive 
receptors/local amenity.  Two locations are identified in the report as suitable for 
the Picking Line. Both locations would be acceptable as the predicted noise levels 
at sound sensitive receptors are beneath the recorded background sound level of 
46dB (LA90, 1hr) for both locations.  However, the 'alternative' location along the 
North West boundary would be most beneficial as this reduces the sound level to 
39 dB, 1 dB lower than sound levels from the existing location of the Picking Line.  

Page 43



The barrier effect provided by the noise bund is significant and as such should be 
relocated and built to a height of 4.5m to protect local amenity.”

Badgeworth Parish Council

6.3 Badgeworth Parish Council objects to this application for the reasons given below: 

1. This planning application is for an extension of the operational yard at the 
Shurdington Road recycling facility.

2. The waste recycling site and the surrounding land is situated within the 
Gloucester and Cheltenham Green Belt. Although the Applicant has no 
intention of increasing the waste recycling activity, the proposed extension 
of the operational yard will result in an intrusion into the Green Belt area 
owned by the Applicant.

3. Over the past years, Badgeworth Parish Council has consistently objected 
to the waste recycling activity in this area of the Green Belt. In the opinion of 
the Parish Council the waste recycling activity constitutes inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt resulting in harm to its openness. The 
creation of landscape bunds and the use of various equipment associated 
with recycling causes harm to the Green Belt.

4. The Council also has some concerns that an enlargement of the operational 
site could lead, at some stage, to an application to extend the volume of 
waste recycling.

Highway Authority

6.4 The Highway Authority recommends that no highway objection be raised subject to a 
repeat of conditions 22, 24, 25 and 35 from planning consent 15/00987/CM being attached 
to define the scope of the development and ensure that there is no detrimental impact on 
highway safety.  In addition it is recommended that the WPA attach an appropriate worded 
planning condition requiring that the development shall only operate ancillary to the 
Elliott’s (Cheltenham) Limited uses on site.

Lead Local Flood Authority

6.5 Following an initial concern by the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) about the capacity 
of the storage tank, the Applicant has increased the available surface water runoff storage 
from the concrete pad to 130m3 to accommodate storms up to the 6 hour 1 in 100 year 
event.  In addition, further information on the discharge mechanism for surface water 
runoff from the bund into the swale outlines the use of a 43mm orifice to restrict flows to 
the pre-development greenfield rates.

6.6 The FRA dated November 2018 version 1 outlines a maintenance regime for the proposed 
drainage system which includes checking this orifice for any blockages after storms.

6.7 The LLFA is satisfied that the proposals within the FRA together with the revised storage 
for the concrete pad and discharge details for the bund address their initial concerns.  
Conditions which relate to surface water drainage systems and maintenance are 
recommended.

Environment Agency

Page 44



6.8 The EA has no objection to the proposed development but made observations in relation to 
there being a requirement to amend the Environment Permit should planning permission be 
granted.

7.0 STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE OBSERVATIONS 

County Ecology

7.1 No objections, subject to conditions and informatives to prevent the removal of 
hedgerow, trees and shrubs during the bird nesting season and the submission of 
a landscape aftercare management plan for the extension site.

County Archaeologist

7.2 The County Archaeologist has checked the proposed development area against 
the County Historic Environment Record and there is no archaeology known at 
this location.  In addition, the evidence of historic maps indicates that the 
application site was formerly part of a quarry.  Therefore no archaeological 
remains will be present there.  For that reason this planning application raises no 
archaeological issues, no archaeological investigation or recording should be 
required in connection with this scheme.

County Landscape Advisor

7.3 As the Applicant has noted, the application site sits within the Green Belt and as 
such for landscape and visual impacts, consideration needs to be given to the 
potential for 'harm' to the Green Belt.  Recognising the existing condition of the 
site, the adjacent land uses and the level of screening the County Landscape 
Advisor (CLA) agrees with the Applicant's assessment set out in section 6 of the 
planning statement that the potential for 'harm' is negligible. 

7.4 A LVA has been submitted (Bridge Associates November 2018).  This includes 
plans showing the site location, existing and proposed development, assessment 
plans, landscape scheme and photographic viewpoints based on the Zone of 
Theoretical Visibility. (Drawing 710-11).  The report is at an appropriate level for 
the application and the CLA concurs with the assessment.

7.5 The LVA notes (Paragraph 2.10) that the Gloucestershire Way long distance path 
runs for some 370m along the boundary of the application site and (Paragraphs 
2.11 and 2.12) that there are a number of other footpaths in the area. These are 
all currently impacted by the existing operation and as such the sensitivity of users 
to the proposed extension is already reduced.  The proposed extension will not 
significantly increase the adverse impact on users of these rights of way.  The 
CLA recommends that the proposed bunds are completed prior to the operational 
use of the extension and that appropriate protective fencing and landscape 
planting is protected from adverse air quality impacts during construction and 
operation.  The CLA considers that the landscape proposals shown on drawing 
710-13 are appropriate for the extension and to tie in with the existing landscape.

7.6 In principle, the CLA does not consider there is landscape or visual grounds to 
object to the application; however information should be supplied on the proposed 

Page 45



restoration of the site.  Both this application for an extension and the approval for 
the current scheme are for temporary use end dates coinciding in October 2026.  
It is therefore reasonable at this stage to ensure the land will be restored to an 
appropriate condition.  This would need to justify either the retention of the bunds 
along with any landscape planting on the bunds which will have had 7-8 years of 
growth or show that the loss of the planting, either in part or whole, together with 
the removal of the bunds would provide a better final restoration scheme.  This in 
particular should consider the visual quality for users of the Gloucestershire Way, 
other footpaths and residential properties, as well as suitable land use.  Such 
proposals should be considered along with the existing operation site to ensure 
continuity of the whole.

Landscape Comments on Restoration Plan 710-14 Received January 2019

7.7 The CLA considers the key issue to be that, whilst the Green Belt is primarily a 
spatial concept and not a landscape designation, the Courts have determined that 
openness also has a visual dimension.  As such it is relevant to consider the visual 
impact of the application on the wider Green Belt in the assessment of the effect 
on openness.  In his response of 11th December 2018, it was noted that, for the 
extension, he agreed with the Applicant’s assessment that the potential for ‘harm’ 
to the Green Belt was negligible and as such he did not object to the extension.  
However the final restoration proposals would need to either justify retention of the 
bunds and planting along with restoration of the active site or demonstrate that the 
loss of the scheme planting and removal of the bunds would provide a better final 
restoration, particularly in respect of the visual amenity of residential properties or 
those walking in the area, including those using the Gloucestershire Way.

7.8 In the submitted LVA paragraph 6.4, the Applicant suggested that the retention of 
the bunding and planting was an appropriate long term mitigation -
“In local views the mitigation works to enclose the extended site by a natural 
extension to the existing bunds will cause some initial adverse effects during the 
construction works.  However, in the medium to long term the bunding with its 
associated native planting will provide an appropriate and co-ordinated response 
which integrates these facilities within the Green Belt without any apparent loss of 
openness.” 

7.9 This however is in the context of the operational life of the facility and does not 
give consideration to the approriateness of the scheme now submitted (Drawing 
710-14).  The supporting statement for the restoration allude to the 
appropriateness of retention of the bunds and planting as part of the retoration 
scheme but do not consider this in the context of the Green Belt.

7.10 The drawings previously submitted, in particular 710-13, show a single, outward 
facing bund and shallower gradient (compared to existing) for the extension, with 
an inner retaining wall.  Drawing 710-14 appears to suggest the retaining wall is 
removed (though this needs to be confirmed) and material imported to grade out 
into the site, though this appears to create quite an unnatural landform.  The 
specification notes suggest that importing material to achieve this will be required. 
The specification notes refer to any deleterious material over 150mm being 
removed from site or buried on site.  It is not clear if the latter can be achieved. 
The notes also refer to imported topsoil.  Assuming all the previous topsoil is now 
within the bunds, if they are retained then soil will need to be imported.  

Page 46



Dependant on where this is from it may be of a different composition and pH to the 
surrounding fields and previous land.  The restortion scheme suggests that one of 
the site access points will be stopped up and planted (but the bund not extended) 
and the other retained as agricultural access.  The supporting note states that the 
new pasture will be returned “to productive pasture as part of the surrounding farm 
enterprises.”  It does not however give any indication if this has been agreed.  The 
final paragraph refers to management as grazing or traditional hay cut for the first 
five years. Both will require different management regimes and, for grazing, the 
sward will need to be sufficiently established to take stock.

7.11 The CLA is concerned that the proposed restoration of the extension area will be 
out of keeping both with the rest of the site and with the wider landscape 
character, as will retention of the bunding.  It will require inert importation in 
addition to topsoil.  The plan also suggests that internal faces of bunds to the 
existing site will be sown as pasture, rather than planted.  These matters need 
further consideration by the Applicant. 

7.12 Whilst the CLA could accept that retention of the hedgerows to the toe of the 
embankments would not impact on the Green Belt, the bunds were originally 
considered to have an adverse impact.  Although the bunds were approved by 
Committee as part of the original application, that does not in itself justify retention 
at restoration.  With no operational reason for the bunds then it could be argued 
that impact on openness is greater.  There has been no assessment or 
consideration of a restoration option with the bunds removed and hedgerows 
retained.  He suggests the suitability of this, the submitted scheme and removal of 
bunds, shrubs and hedgerows should be considered in a supplement to the LVA 
and in the context and consideration of the openness of the Green Belt.  As part of 
this there should be an assessment of the success of the planting and 
establishment of the landscape mitigation approved and implemented as part of 
the original site.  The advisor would like to see 5-year management plans for the 
two options of grazing or hay cut and ideally to have certainty that the surrounding 
farms are interested in taking this on.  As part of this, consideration should be 
given, if it is to be farmed by the adjoining farm, as to the need for another 
agricultural access to link the site directly to the adjoining field.

Landscape Comments on Supplement to LVA

7.13 The CLA having reviewed the supplementary information considers that the 
supplement gives equal weighting to both options for restoration with and without 
bunds and makes specific differentiation on a preference.  The CLA recommends 
that the most recently submitted drawing 710-14A showing the restoration without 
the screening bunds is accepted together with the submitted restoration 
statements as they apply to this option.  Planning conditions should be used to 
ensure that restoration is completed by October 2026 and to a 5 year aftercare 
plan which includes the agricultural use of the restored field.  The condition should 
be worded to allow some flexibility of the first planting season for final infill hedge 
planting after October 2026 so that all planting should be completed by March 
2027 but soil spreading and seeding should be carried out by October 2026.

Minerals and Waste Planning Policy Officer

Page 47



7.14 The Mineral and Waste Planning Policy Officer (PO) advises that “the proposal 
falls within the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt and the impact on this land 
designation will be pivotal in determining the proposals overall acceptability in 
planning terms.  This was very much the case with the adjacent, existing waste 
management facility for which this proposal has a relationship.  The development 
plan is clear on the matter of waste management in the Green Belt – there will be 
a presumption against proposals that amount to inappropriate development within 
the Gloucester – Cheltenham Green Belt except where it can be demonstrated 
that there are ‘very special circumstances’ (VSCs).  VSCs will not exist unless the 
totality of the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm can be clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.  A key material consideration in respect of the 
Green Belt is national policy contained in NPPF 2018.  This was published a 
number of years after the adoption of the Waste Core Strategy, which was 
prepared under a different policy regime.  As a consequence, it represents a more 
recent policy position of some material significance.  Nevertheless, the NPPF 
clarifies that inappropriate development by definition is harmful to the Green Belt 
and should not be approved except in VSCs.  It also advises that substantial 
weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt and VSCs will not exist 
unless potential harm to the Green Belt is clearly outweighed.  In addition, the 
NPPF directs on the forms of development that are not inappropriate in the Green 
Belt (paragraphs 145 and 146) provided they preserve the openness and do not 
conflict with the purpose of including land within it.  

Taking account of the policy framework described above, a reasonable starting 
point for a Green Belt policy review is to establish whether the development could 
be termed ‘inappropriate’ or not.  Critical to this will be a judgement made 
concerning the preservation of openness and an analysis of the purposes of the 
Green Belt – BUT this is only really applicable under the bullet (e), paragraph 146 
route.  This will undoubtedly require technical input particularly on visual and 
landscape impact matters (e.g. consideration of the new / relocated bunds).  In the 
event the proposal could be considered ‘not to be inappropriate’ then the Green 
Belt issue moves to the matter of ‘harm’.  Site-specific environmental matters must 
be taken into account here (e.g. noise and dust creation, visual disturbance and 
degradation etc.…).  It is acknowledged that the Applicant’s agent has sought to 
cover such issues through the submitted planning statement (page 19 to 23). 
Substantial weight should be given to ANY harm to the Green Belt that could be 
caused and other harm generated by the proposal.  Alternatively, where the 
proposal is considered to be inappropriate, the analysis shifts to the scrutiny of 
VSCs.  This initially requires ’harm’ to be considered (see sentence above) to 
establish whether VSCs could exist.  Paragraph 4.227 of the Waste Core Strategy 
offers local policy advice on VSCs within a waste development context.  It 
identifies that a lack of suitable and available non-Green Belt sites, an identified 
need in respect of the location (i.e. the proximity to the waste arisings) and a 
relationship to an existing waste management facility could all feature as potential 
VSCs.”  

7.15 The PO further advises that, “The case officer will need to be satisfied that the 
VSCs brought forward by the Applicant’s agent are applicable and of significance.  
At this time, their collective legitimacy could be questioned.  Whilst operational 
efficiency may be a reasonable point – this should really be better exemplified not 
simply stated e.g. what is it about the additional space that is helpful – is it to 
accommodate better equipment or is it a H&S issue?  

Page 48



Furthermore, the points raised inferring waste activities could increase must be 
considered very carefully indeed and they should also be of limited significance 
due to the fact that no change in the capacity of the existing ‘supported’ facility will 
result.

Finally, the ‘retention of the business’ case may also be of very limited 
significance, bearing in mind the accepted position is that the existing waste 
management facility is only temporary and a sub-optimal arrangement in planning 
terms.  Continued efforts should be being made to acquire a more suitable, 
alternative permanent location, where the business’ legacy can then be firmly 
established.  As a consequence, it is thought that the final two sentences of the 
last bullet point for paragraph 6.3 of the Applicant’s planning statement are 
erroneous particularly as no further update has been provided about a search for a 
more permanent site.”

Planning Considerations:

Planning History Summary

7.16 Planning Application 07/0015/TWMAJW was submitted on 29th March 2007 by the 
Applicant for a permanent inert waste recycling operation.  Planning Committee 
Members at their meeting on the 13th August 2007 resolved to only grant a 
temporary permission and commented that “this development was inappropriate 
for a Green Belt area but felt that special circumstances existed if permission was 
temporary and that the site was going to be restored.”  

7.17 Temporary permission for the waste site (ref: 07/0015/TWMAJW) was granted to 
assist in the progressive restoration of the adjacent mineral site that was also 
granted consent by the Planning Committee at the same meeting on 13th August 
2007 (under planning reference 07/0016/TWMAJW).  The reason for the grant of 
the temporary permission given with planning condition 2 on the decision notice 
for the waste operation on 07/0015/TWMAJW was:  

“The development if permanent is considered would constitute inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt, which by definition is harmful and there are not 
considered to be any special circumstances to outweigh the harm caused by any 
such permanent development.  Thereby such a permanent development is 
considered not to accord with either PPG2 of Policy 35 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan and Policy GBT1 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan.  
However as a temporary use connected with the required restoration using inert 
materials of the mineral working subject to permission 07/00570/FUL [County 
planning reference 07/0016/TWMAJM] it is considered the development would not 
constitute inappropriate development and this would constitute special 
circumstances which would outweigh any harm so caused.  Such a temporary use 
is considered would comply with the requirements of PPG 2 and Policy GBR1 of 
the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan.”  

7.18 Whilst the Applicant applied to extend the life of the site until 31st December 2016 
in planning reference 14/0046/TWMAJW, the WPA granted a shorter renewal of 
the temporary waste planning permission until 21st August 2015 (a period of 12 
months).  This was in the belief that the Applicant was relocating his activities to a 

Page 49



new site on ‘The Park’, Stoke Orchard following the granting of full planning 
permission by the Planning Committee for the replacement site (reference 
14/0005/TWMAJW) at their meeting on the 31st July 2014.  It was considered at 
that time that 12 months would be adequate to transfer the business to the new 
site.  Unfortunately the Applicant was unable to relocate as planned and 
commence the new planning permission for reasons beyond his control.

7.19 At the expiry of 12 months, the Applicant applied under planning reference 
15/0053/TWMAJW to permanently retain the waste management site by removing 
the planning condition which limited the life of the planning permission until 21st 
August 2015.  While officers recommended refusal on Green Belt grounds, 
Committee Members were minded to grant temporary planning permission for a ten-year 
period considering that “Very Special Circumstances” existed that clearly outweighed any 
potential harm to the Green Belt by way of economic, environmental and wider 
sustainability benefits of the waste operation at this particular site.  The temporary 
planning permission was issued on 1st August 2016, expiring on the 1st August 
2026.  

7.20 Since 2007 the Applicant has made a number of successful renewals of the 
temporary permission for the waste operation on the basis that material was 
required for the restoration of the nearby mineral site, however, only small 
quantities of the sand have been extracted and thus little of the inert waste 
material has been utilised as a restoration infill.  Planning permission for the 
Applicant’s nearby sand pit expired on 31st August 2018, and while an enquiry 
about the possibility of an extension to the site was made in 2017, no further 
applications have been submitted.  The sand pit site has been restored in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

7.21 Since the temporary planning permission has been granted for the waste site at 
the October 2016 meeting of the Planning Committee, the Applicant has gained 
approval pursuant to a number of planning conditions which included resurfacing 
the access road and installation of a weighbridge.  In September 2017 the 
Applicant was granted retrospective permission for the erection of a 6.5 metre high 
mechanical picking station which was not part of the 15/0053/TWMAJW 
permission to assist in recycling inert skip waste.  Approval for changes to the 
layout of the waste site and increasing the height of screening bunds following the 
introduction of the picking station to the site was granted without changing the 
agreed throughput of the site. 

Consideration of the Current Planning Application

7.22 The main considerations in determining this application for approval of a lateral 
extension to an existing waste recycling site where the proposal does not include 
any change to the permitted throughput of wastes are: the degree to which the 
proposal complies with National Planning Policy and the policies of the 
Development Plan particularly relating to the protection of the Green Belt and 
whether very special circumstances have been demonstrated to outweigh any 
other harm such as environmental amenity, landscape and visual impact.

Green Belt Protection

Page 50



7.23 The site lies within the Cheltenham and Gloucester Green Belt as designated in 
the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011.  The purpose of the Green Belt is to 
prevent urban sprawl and keep land permanently open.  Paragraph 144 of the 
NPPF states that inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green 
Belt and should not be approved except in ‘very special circumstances’.  

7.24 Policy WCS13 of the Gloucestershire WCS reflects National Planning Policy of the 
NPPF which seeks to protect the Green Belt from inappropriate development and 
carries a presumption against inappropriate development unless ‘very special 
circumstances’ can be demonstrated and the harm can be clearly outweighed by 
other considerations.  

Inappropriate Development

7.25 The use of land for a waste management does not comply with the exceptional 
development listed in paragraph 145 of the NPPF which includes buildings for 
agriculture and forestry, outdoor sport and recreation facilities, cemeteries, 
replacement buildings, limited extensions to buildings and villages, limited infilling 
or partial or complete redevelopment of brownfield land which would not have a 
greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt.  Paragraph 146 also lists six 
other forms of development which would also not be considered inappropriate and 
includes at point “e) material changes of use of land” provided it does not conflict 
with the purposes of inclusion within the Green Belt.  However from the NPPW 
(2014) waste management proposals do amount to inappropriate development.  
Therefore in this case ‘very special circumstances’ need to be satisfied for the 
development to be able to proceed.  

Very Special Circumstances

7.26 Given that the WPA considers that the development is considered as 
‘inappropriate development’ then it falls to be considered whether any ‘very special 
circumstances’ exist to justify the totality of the harm to the Green Belt.

7.27 The Applicant is of the opinion that the benefits of the development: being an 
improvement to efficiency of the operation; beneficial sustainable waste 
management system consistent with the waste hierarchy; helping to meet waste 
recovery targets by diversion from landfill; enhanced screening and landscaping 
clearly outweigh the harm and amount to very special circumstances.  Reference 
is also made in the benefits of the development to there being “no alternative ‘non’ 
Green Belt sites for the development.” 

7.28 It appears that the Applicant does not consider the threshold for demonstrating 
harm outweighing benefits needs to be particularly high in this application.  The 
WPA requested as part of this application that the Applicant provide an update on 
the search for an alternative non-Green Belt site from that which was provided to 
help justify the granting of temporary permission 15/0053/TWMAJW.  However no 
information has been provided.  

7.29 It is acknowledged that improved rates of waste recycling would have benefits to 
the current solution of disposal to landfill, however the extent to which recycling 
rates can be increased by increasing the operational area have not been provided 
in this application.

Page 51



7.30 The Applicant has applied for a temporary consent which would expire at the 
same as the permission 15/0053/TWMAJW on the adjacent waste management 
site.  A similar temporary use of land in the Green Belt can be considered in the 
development’s favour since a permanent adverse impact on the purposes of the 
Green Belt can be limited to 7 years, after which time, the land can be restored to 
the same agricultural use as the adjacent waste site.  The land is currently unused 
scrubland and would benefit from being restored to a higher standard than 
currently appears to be the case.  The remaining 7 years allowed in which the 
Applicant can search for a suitable alternative site outside the Green Belt could 
equally apply to this extension site and would benefit the continuity of waste 
recycling facilities in the County.

7.31 Apart from the laying of a concrete slab with drainage and sections of retaining 
walls to secure the internal slopes of the screening bunds, there are no permanent 
structures associated with the proposed temporary use of the land associated with 
this waste use.  The picking plant is not a permanent structure and would be 
relocated from its currently approved position on the existing waste site, where it 
would remain for 7 years.  The Applicant has not made the case that the 
application site is critically dependent upon being located adjacent to the existing 
waste site, although has proposed that the existing access, weighbridge and staff 
welfare arrangements can be shared which also can be weighed in the 
development’s favour.  

7.32 The table reproduced in paragraph 2.2 of this report from the supporting statement 
shows that the Applicant considers that there would be “No harm to the openness 
of the Green Belt.  Limited effect on the local landscape features and in the 
medium to long-term, with mitigation measures in place, there would be a 
‘Negligible’ or ‘Slight Beneficial’ effect in relation to landuse, vegetation, landscape 
quality and landscape policy.”  

7.33 It is clear that the Applicant is relying on the WPA’s view that the existing waste 
site contributes to a sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.  
The Applicant considers that any harm to the Green Belt such as impact on 
openness are limited to a temporary period only and this justification as ‘very 
special circumstances’ would apply equally to an extension to this site.  The WPA 
is mindful that the same argument could easily be applied to other lateral 
extensions to the existing site given that the Applicant owns land immediately to 
the south of the existing waste site.  This does pose a dilemma for the WPA.  
While any reported lack of progress on searching for an alternative non Green Belt 
location for this waste management operation is disappointing, on balance it is 
considered that a permission which is strictly time limited, allowing a generous 7 
years in which the Applicant can relocate his waste management operation and 
fully restore the site for a future agricultural use could be considered acceptable 
and beneficial in the short to medium term for land which has been degraded by 
earlier mineral extraction and poor restoration.  However it is important that the 
Applicant advises the WPA of his attempts to secure an alternative non-Green Belt 
site in order to relocate his waste management operation at the end of 7 years.  
The WPA considers that a planning condition which requires the Applicant to 
submit a progress report demonstrating continued efforts to find an alternative site 
to relocate this operation should be imposed.

Page 52



Openness of the Green Belt

7.34 The essential characteristics of Green Belt are their openness and their 
permanence in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.  The application 
site is located in an area of open countryside on the southern fringes of 
Cheltenham.  As part of the previous temporary planning permissions for the site, 
the Applicant has created a 3 metre high earth bund around most of the existing 
site perimeter which rises to 4.5 metres high in the north eastern corner of the 
extension site in order to better screen the waste recycling activities being carried 
out within that part of the site.  

7.35 As part of the consideration of planning permission 15/0053/TWMAJW the CLA at 
that time was of the opinion that the retention of the landscape bund as part of the 
Applicant’s original proposal to permanently retain the waste operations would 
change the character of the landscape from open pasture land to a visually 
enclosed waste operation.  The compartmentalisation of the site and 
fragmentation of the existing open field pattern which surrounds the site with an 
uncharacteristic landform in a low lying and essentially flat landscape character 
context would give rise to a residual landscape harm and lead to a small and 
localised loss of the openness of the Green Belt.  The CLA previously considered 
that the development in this form would result in a small scale encroachment and 
loss of openness of the Green Belt which would be contrary to one of the five 
purposes of its designation as set out in the NPPF.

7.36 This proposal being an extension to an existing but temporary waste operation 
represents another encroachment of the openness of the Green Belt.  The CLA 
advised that whilst the Green Belt is primarily a spatial concept and not a 
landscape designation, the Courts have determined that openness also has a 
visual dimension.  As such it is relevant to consider the visual impact of the 
application on the wider Green Belt in the assessment of the effect on openness.  

7.37 The Applicant’s LVA considers that there would be limited effect on local 
landscape features with landscape mitigation in place in the medium to long term 
and ‘negligible’ to ‘slight beneficial’ effect in relation to land-use, vegetation and 
landscape character.  The CLA in his response of 11th December 2018 noted that 
he agreed with the Applicant’s Landscape Consultant’s assessment of the 
potential for ‘harm’ to the Green Belt from the site bunds was negligible to slight 
beneficial.  The CLA did not object to the extension site given the WPA’s 
acceptance of the need for screening bunds did not adversely affect the openness 
or purposes of the Green Belt by permitting temporary development in 
15/0053/TWMAJW.  However the CLA felt that the final restoration proposals 
would need to either justify the retention of the bunds and planting after 2026 
along with restoration of the waste site or demonstrate that the loss of some shrub 
planting on the removal of the bunds would provide a better final restoration.  The 
CLA requested a further landscape asssesment of alternative options of retaining 
or removing the screening bunds and advised that this would need to be carried 
out in respect of the visual amenity of residential properties or those walking in the 
area, including those using the Gloucestershire Way.  

7.38 Following the Applicant’s submission of a drawing showing the removal of the 
screening bunds and supplementary LVA of options at the end of the temporary 
permission in 2026, the CLA was satisfied that this loss of openness of the Green 

Page 53



Belt was for a temporary period up until 2026, mitigated by the removal of bunds 
no longer required by the waste operation at the end the planning permission 
when this was linked to expiration date of waste operations on the existing waste 
management site.  

7.39 Four local residents have objected to the extension site and have criticised the 
Applicant’s apparent total disregard of the openness of the Green Belt, the 
ineffectiveness of the application of Green Belt policies to protect the Green Belt 
as well as the length of time allowed for such a temporary use.  The WPA 
permitted the existing waste operation in the Green Belt on a temporary basis in 
order to permit the operator more time in which to find an alternative site but 
permitted 10 years to make it cost effective for the operator to make improvements 
to the site which would assist in mitigating impacts of the development.  The 
Applicant has resurfaced the access road which has reduced noise and dust from 
vehicles.  The Applicant has also carried out landscape planting around the 
screening bund although this will take time to establish.  

Visual Impact

7.40 The proposed extension of the waste recycling site would involve the loss of low 
growing and recently planted shrubs/hedging plants which will need to be replaced 
by an equivalent length of hedge around the south/south-eastern boundary of the 
extension.  Although only temporary permission is being applied for, the landscape 
planting at the base of the bunds would remain after the expiry of the planning 
permission when the land is restored to an agricultural use.  

7.41 A Landscape and Visual Implications Assessment has been submitted and the 
CLA does not consider that the extension site will significantly increase the 
adverse impacts on users of the rights of way in the vicinity than are currently 
impacted.  The advisor considers that the proposed bunds should be extended 
and works completed prior to the operational use of the site.  The bund is also 
considered to restrict views of the roof of the picking plant from local views from 
public footpaths in the vicinity of the site.  An updated landscape and aftercare 
plan has been submitted to reflect the changes and this will be required to be 
implemented in accordance with the planning condition to ensure that the planting 
thrives.  The proposed mitigation in this application is considered to comply with 
WCS Policy WCS14 which prohibits development which would have a significant 
adverse impact on the local landscape and the setting of the Cotswolds AONB.

Harm to the Purposes of the Green Belt

7.42 Paragraph 4.227 of the WCS identifies that a lack of suitable and available non-
Green Belt sites, an identified need in respect of the location (i.e. the proximity to 
the waste arisings) and a relationship to an existing waste management facility 
could all feature as potential very special circumstances.  In this respect there is a 
clear relationship with an existing permitted (albeit temporary) waste management 
facility and the application site.  The waste management operation in this Green 
Belt location has been permitted for a temporary period up until 2026 by planning 
permission 15/0053/TWMAJW because the WPA was of the view that very special 
circumstances due to reasons given in paragraph 7.26 of this report applied to a 
waste management site in this part of Gloucestershire.  No change is proposed to 
the amount or type of material brought onto the site, although there will be some 

Page 54



changes to the organisation of activities on the site resulting from them having 
more space.  The non-inert skip waste recycling operations would continue to take 
place on an extended concrete pad in the north eastern corner of the site using 
the same picking plant which has approval to operate on the existing site.  
Therefore the WPA needs to satisfy itself that the reasons applied to permission 
reference 15/0053/TWMAJW would equally apply to the extension site for the 
remaining 7 years until 2026.

Need for the facility to be located on this site

7.43 The Applicant previously submitted an alternative site appraisal and also a review 
of the proximity of the waste arisings as justification for the need for the waste 
management operation in connection with the previous application 
15/0053/TWMAJW.  Through the resolution of the Planning Committee, the WPA 
accepted the Applicant’s conclusion that there were no other inert waste recycling 
sites to serve the market demand in the Cheltenham area and losing this site 
would affect the County’s ability to meet its own recycling targets and delivery of 
its own waste strategy and these amounted to ‘Very Special Circumstances’ at 
that time.  

7.44 While no further update on the Applicant’s search for an alternative site has been 
supplied following the WPA’s requests to provide justification of this application, 
the relationship of the application site to the Applicant’s existing waste 
management site supports the view that very special circumstances could be 
considered to exist for this site if it is to be ancillary to the waste management 
activity on the adjacent site.  This would need to be secured by planning condition 
to prevent the site operating in its own right. 

Sustainable Waste Management 

7.45 The Applicant considers that the location of the application site in the Green Belt is 
beneficial to the wider sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.  
The application site being located on the edge of Cheltenham is close to the 
Applicant’s customer base and waste arisings in the Cheltenham area.  

7.46 In this application the Applicant claims; ‘the extension of the facility is necessary to 
improve the efficiency of the operation..’; ‘(it will) …improve an existing facility, 
helping to increase recycling levels, in so doing will further the site’s contribution 
towards meeting the county’s waste management needs.’; and ‘(It will) …help 
safeguard the retention of the existing recycling facility…’.

7.47 In response to the Case Officer’s request to explain what operational efficiencies 
would result from extending the site, the WPA were advised in an email from the 
agent sent on 20th February 2019:

“Extant permission 15/0053/TWMAJW has established the very special 
circumstances for the site’s existence up to 2026, thus no further justification is 
necessary in that regard and these circumstances remain relevant to the proposed 
extension area.  The additional space is required to provide more room for 
permitted operations and site circulation thus improving site safety and efficiency. 
The proposal creates an improved recycling area with more operational space for 
vehicles to manoeuvre and discharge and collect loads avoiding conflicting vehicle 

Page 55



movements and minimising the need for reversing and allowing better segregation 
of vehicles and pedestrians (operatives).  Also, it will enable more types of waste 
(from that which is already accepted at the site) to be segregated by type for 
recycling.  

The Noise Report that accompanies the application has found that by 
repositioning the existing picking station to the new location proposed this will help 
reduce noise (it will have a slightly beneficial noise impact at the nearest sensitive 
noise receptor).”

7.48 While some residents have complained about a potential increase in noise from 
the proposed extension site and refer to noise problems from the existing site, 
TewkesburyBorough Council’s EHO is satisfied with the Applicant’s acoustic 
advisor’s assessment of the impacts of noise from the extension site and agrees 
with their findings that there would be a slightly beneficial noise impact on the 
nearest sensitive noise receptor from relocating the picking plant into the proposed 
extension site.  The EHO was previously satisfied with the acoustic assessment 
for noise generated from the site activities when consulted during the processing 
of planning application 15/0053/TWMAJW. 

7.49 The WPA acknowledges the valuable contribution that the Applicant’s recycling of 
inert construction, demolition wastes and non-inert skip wastes by diverting waste 
from landfill makes to the sustainable waste management system for 
Gloucestershire.  While the WPA does not entirely accept the agent’s statement 
and is disappointed that the agent’s response has been that “no further 
justification is necessary” of the very special circumstances which apply to this 
application site given its location in the Green Belt, the WPA can reluctantly accept 
the reasoning in the absence of further evidence that the application site would 
provide more space and thus improving site safety and efficiency for the existing 
approved waste management operation.  This is evident now that the large picking 
plant and weighbridge required by planning condition on 15/0053/TWMAJW has 
been permitted on the existing site.  While the agent refers to ‘more types of waste 
to be segregated by type for recycling’ these waste types would need to be within 
the scope of permitted waste types of construction and demolition waste.  A 
temporary permission for the application site would be required to be subject to 
the same planning conditions as in the existing waste site relating to maximum 
permitted waste throughputs.  Improved rates of recycling of material could 
potentially reduce the amount of residual waste which is sent to landfill in 
accordance with, WCS Policy WCS4 which aims to divert inert waste from landfill 
through recycling and recovery operations.

Economic Benefit

7.50 The existing waste site provides full time employment for 5 operatives although an 
additional 4 can be working at the site during the crushing campaigns permitted to 
be carried out for a total of 8 weeks a year.  There is no proposal to increase the 
numbers employed on the extension site as the purpose of the application is to 
provide more space for existing approved activities.  While there is no increase 
resulting from additional employment creation on this application site, the 
development is considered to be beneficial to the local economy by contributing to 
the wider sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.  

Page 56



Traffic Generation

7.51 While concern has been expressed by a local resident that an extension of the site 
will lead to an increase in waste handled, the Applicant is not proposing to 
increase the permitted maximum waste throughput nor vehicle movements of the 
waste recycling operation that are controlled by planning conditions.  

7.52 The Applicant was asked to supply details of the waste throughput for the last 2 
years of operation.  While the information which was subsequently submitted by 
the Applicant is only a table of figures for the 12 months of 2018, because we 
were given to understand that the accuracy of information for 2017 could not be 
relied upon, the 2018 figures show that the annual tonnage of waste leaving the 
site is under the 40,000 tonnes permitted by the planning condition and that the 
non-inert portion of the tonnage is under the 5,000 annual tonnes permitted.  The 
planning condition which limits the existing site’s waste throughput is 
recommended to be applied to this site.  The Applicant is also required to submit 
information relating to the Environmental Permit quarterly.  Following a discussion 
with the EA relating to the record keeping, the EA has advised that they intend to 
carry out an audit of waste returns to ensure good practice.

7.53 Similarly the information supplied by the operator on commercial vehicle 
movements only shows 12 months for the 2018 period; however this shows that 
average vehicle movements with the exception of July which averages 113 daily 
movements are within the maximum permitted average daily limit of 112 
movements as set out in the planning condition.  While a planning condition which 
limits the existing site’s commercial vehicle movements would be applied to this 
site, a revised planning condition which requires the submission of quarterly 
figures as evidenced by waste transfer notes is recommended so that more 
regular monitoring checks can be made.

7.54 The extension site would be accessed from the adjacent waste site entrance and 
would not have a separate entrance.  The Highway Authority is satisfied with the 
highway impact of the development and does not object provided that planning 
conditions relating to the number of vehicle movements and retention and use of 
the approved access are maintained.  They have also recommended that a 
personal planning condition is used to ensure that the site is only operated by the 
Applicant in order that the operation remains ancillary to the waste recycling on 
the existing site.  A planning condition which names the Applicant is therefore 
recommended in Section 8.0 of this report.

Noise and Dust

7.55 A local resident has objected to noise and disturbance from the site from crushing 
and screening operations permitted under 15/0053/TWMAJW.  The crushing and 
screening activities were previously assessed by the EHO and would be 
unchanged by the proposed extension to the site as the inert wastes would not be 
processed on the application site.  The application site would be used for the 
sorting of skip wastes with the mechanised picking line.  The bund which is 
proposed to be extended around the extension site boundary will assist in the 
screening of the recycling operations from noise, dust and help prevent windblown 
litter.  It would be important to prevent the commencement of operations on the 
extension site prior to the completion of the bunds surrounding the extension site 

Page 57



which could be achieved by a planning condition.  In addition the condition 
requiring a dust management scheme which applies to the existing site would be 
extended to cover the extension site.  The existing site bunds should not be 
removed until the proposed new bunds are in place to protect amenity of the 
nearest residential properties situated off Badgeworth Lane.  The District EHO is 
satisfied that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on the 
environment in terms of noise and dust and complies with WCS Policy WCS4 and 
indeed the revised position of the picking station was considered to have a slightly 
beneficial impact compared with its existing position on the site.  

7.56 Objectors have highlighted that there is a lack of compliance with existing planning 
conditions in spite of there not being complaints.  Concerns about the cleanliness 
of the road and mud from the road blocking gullies causing flooding has been 
brought to the attention of the operator and the Highway Manager and these 
issues appear to have been rectified.  Planning enforcement powers will continue 
to be considered to ensure compliance with conditions where the WPA is made 
aware of issues.  As there are a number of other businesses operating in the 
vicinity to the waste management site, it is not always clear who may be causing 
the problems as identified in the neutral representation received.  The issue of 
smoke appears to be related to the bee keeping operation rather than the waste 
recycling site as there was evidence of bonfires on this site when the Case Officer 
visited the application site.  However there are no planning conditions on the bee 
keeper’s planning permission which would prevent the burning of waste material 
on their site and normal environmental controls would be applicable in the event of 
further nuisance from these activities.  Similarly early morning vehicle movements 
from the neighbouring sites are not controlled by an enforceable planning 
condition.

Conclusion of Very Special Circumstances

7.57 The temporary use until October 2026 of the existing site for waste management 
in the Green Belt has been accepted by planning permission reference 
15/0053/TWMAJW.  At the October 2016 meeting of the Planning Committee, 
Members were persuaded by the case made by the Applicant that very special 
circumstances existed with regard to economic benefits and need for this facility in 
this location which could satisfy WCS Policy WCS13, however were not prepared 
to grant a permanent consent as requested by the Applicant.  

7.58 Tewkesbury Borough Council considers that the development does have an 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt, however considers it material that the 
proposed development, like the existing permitted site would also be time limited 
but leaves it to the WPA to consider whether very special circumstances apply.  

7.59 The WPA accepts that the use of land for a waste operation which necessitates 
the creation of an alien feature in the form of screening bunds to protect amenity 
does impact on the openness of the Green Belt.  While the extension site is an 
encroachment by extending an unacceptable use in the Green Belt, the WPA 
accepts the case being made is based on a need for operational improvement and 
to improve the health and safety of site operatives, given that very special 
circumstances are deemed to apply to the main planning permission for a 
temporary operation as outlined in this report.  However, provided the application 
site operates as an extension to the existing waste site without introducing any 

Page 58



further intensification of the use or other operational changes and is approved for 
a limited time period to tie in with permission 15/0053/TWMAJM, then it would 
follow that the very special circumstances which apply to the existing site could 
equally apply to the application site which would satisfy the requirements of WCS 
Policy WCS13. 

Other Matters

7.60 This planning application is concerned only with the extension site although the 
proposed waste operations would be associated with facilities and operations on 
the existing adjacent site, through which the same vehicular access would be 
taken.  The relocation of the bunds to the existing site’s eastern boundary and 
picking line plant would require changes to be made to the approved layout of the 
existing waste site permitted under application reference 15/0053/TWMAJW.  This 
permission was subsequently amended by drawing reference 2002D - Site Plan 
as part of permission reference 17/0075/TWMAJW granted in October 2017.  
While the Landscape Proposals Drawing 710-13 submitted with this application 
shows how the site layout might operate if permission for the extension area were 
granted, the existing site layout would need to be formally changed as part of a 
further amendment application under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act as the existing waste site falls outside the current red lined 
application site.  A planning informative can be added to this effect.

Planning Balance

7.61 Within the NPPF, NPPW, Policy WCS13 of Gloucestershire’s adopted WCS and 
JCS Policy SD5; there is a presumption against inappropriate development that 
would harm the openness of the Green Belt and for waste management facilities 
to be sited outside the Green Belt.  It is noted that the type of development 
proposed does not fall within the criteria of acceptable forms of development in 
Green Belt set out in Paragraph 145 and 146 of the NPPF, however as an 
extension to an existing site with which it would be linked, it could be considered to 
be an ancillary waste development to which the very special circumstances which 
apply to the existing site can equally be applied to the extension site.  Although 
finely balanced, the benefits of providing additional space to improve rates of 
recycling and a better working environment for the health and safety of site 
operatives are considered to outweigh the harm to the openness of the Green Belt 
and amount to very special circumstances for permitting the waste development in 
Green Belt as outlined in paragraphs 7.57 to 7.59 of this report. 

7.62 The Applicant proposes to mitigate the impacts of noise, dust, litter, pollution of the 
water environment on local residents to the satisfaction of the EHO and EA.  
These matters can be controlled through planning conditions, should planning 
permission be granted and would be sufficient to outweigh the consideration that 
the proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt.   

7.63 The Applicant proposes landscape planting around the screening bund to help 
mitigate the visual impact of the site and the appearance of the surrounding 
bunds.  However, whilst additional planting would mitigate the visual impact of the 
site in the medium to long term, as an extension to the existing waste facility the 
landscape planting is considered to have a negligible to slightly beneficial impact 

Page 59



on the openness of the Green Belt which accords with Policy WCS13 of the WCS 
where this harm is outweighed by other considerations.

Human Rights

7.64 From 2nd October 2000 the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of enshrining 
much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. Under 6(1) of the 
Act, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way, which is incompatible with a 
convention right. A person who claims that a public authority has acted (or 
proposes to act) in a way which is made unlawful by Section 6(1), and that he is 
(or would be) a victim of the unlawful act, may bring proceedings against the 
authority under the Act in the appropriate court or tribunal, or may rely on the 
convention right or rights concerned in any legal proceedings.

7.65 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning proposals are 
Article 1 of the First Protocol (the peaceful enjoyment of property) and Article 8 
(the right to a private and family life). Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the 
right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 guarantees a right to respect for private and family life. Article 8 also 
provides that there shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise 
of this right except in the interests of national security, public safety, or the 
economic and social well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or 
crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the freedom of 
others.

7.66 While Badgeworth Parish Council objected, there are no further objections from 
statutory consultees to the proposals.  Four objections were received from local 
residents primarily on amenity grounds.  The concerns raised have been 
addressed in the report above.  In analysing the issues raised in this application, 
no particular matters other than those referred to in this report warranted any 
interference in respect of Article 1.  Accordingly, it would not be unlawful to grant 
planning permission for the extension of the waste recycling site. 

Summary Reasons for the Grant of Planning Permission

7.67 The proposal in this application is to extend the area of land used as a waste 
recycling operation on a site in the Green Belt that is authorised until 19.10.2026.  
The extension area would accommodate an existing large picking station structure 
used to sort non-inert skip waste, relocated from the existing site.  Screening 
bunds which surround the existing site would be extended around the extension 
site boundary with access through the existing waste site entrance.  No change is 
proposed to the maximum permissible waste throughput or numbers of 
commercial vehicle movements.

7.68 Other than Badgeworth Parish Council, no statutory consultees have objected to 
the proposal, although Tewkesbury Borough Council’s representation depends on 
whether the WPA considers ‘Very Special Circumstances’ apply.  Four local 
residents submitted objections and expressed concern relating to the numbers of 
vehicle movements, noise and dust and smoke from the site.  These are matters 
that can be controlled by the enforcement of planning conditions and by an 
Environmental Permit which control the operation of the site.  Complaints about 
the site operation have been brought to the attention of the appropriate parties to 

Page 60



be rectified.  As the existing waste activities would continue during the 
construction period on the extension site, concerns over the increase in noise and 
dust from operations of the site during the construction period can be mitigated by 
a planning condition to prevent the commencement of operations on the extension 
site until the new site bunds are in place in order to protect the amenity of nearby 
residents. 

7.69 The WPA considers that this proposal, being an extension to the existing waste 
operation, represents a small scale encroachment on the openness of the Green 
Belt for an inappropriate development type which has already been permitted.  
Very special circumstances are considered to apply to this operator’s existing 
waste recycling operation which outweigh the impact of the permanence and 
openness of the Green Belt.  It is considered that on balance that this loss of 
openness of the Green Belt can be mitigated by the linking of the operation of the 
proposed site with the exsting waste management operation which has only a 
temporary planning permission in recognition of the need to protect the Green 
Belt.  The relocated plant and equipment would be sited within the extension site 
enclosed behind the surrounding earth bund which would provide acoustic 
screening for the plant operations which satisfies the Environmental Health 
Officer.  The bund will be planted in accordance with an approved landscaping 
scheme which will assist in the integration of the proposal into the surrounding 
landscape, especially when viewed from a distance and the AONB which satisfied 
the County’s Landscape Advisor.  The screening bunds will be removed and the 
site restored by the expiration date of the temporary planning permission in 
October 2026.  The use of the land for an extension to an existing waste 
management site is considered on balance to comply with WCS Policies WCS4, 
WCS13, WCS14 and WCS17.  

7.70 In determining this planning application, the WPA has worked with the Applicant in 
a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to problems arising in 
relation to dealing with the planning application by liaising with consultees, 
respondents and the agent, and by discussing changes to the proposal where 
considered appropriate or necessary.  This approach has been taken positively 
and proactively in accordance with the requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
(Amendment No.2) Order 2012.

7.71 In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009 (CLG Circular 02/2009) the Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government (SoS) has been notified of this proposed development in the 
Gloucester Cheltenham Green Belt, however a local planning authority shall not 
grant planning permission on an application until the SoS has notified the authority 
that he does not intend to issue a direction under Section 77 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 allowing the authority to proceed to determine the 
application.  

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

8.1 It is recommended that, subject to the Secretary of State not ‘calling-in’ the 
application for his determination under the Town and Country Planning 
(Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 as “Green Belt development” planning 

Page 61



permission is granted for the reasons set out in paragraphs 7.67 to 7.71 and 
subject to the following conditions: 

Commencement 

1. The development hereby approved shall commence within 3 years from the date 
of this permission.  

Reason:  In order to comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 2 Scope of the permission

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
revised application form submitted 4.2.19; Planning Statement dated 19th 
November 2018, Landscape Visual Assessment dated November 2018 by Bridges 
Design Associates; Flood Risk Assessment November 2018 by Amber Planning, 
letter dated 14.01.2019 from Amber Planning; Noise Impact Assessment dated 
30/10/2018 by Acoustics and Noise Limited; Shurdington Final Restoration 
Proposals Notes dated 16th January 2019 and the agent’s email dated 20.2.19; 
and the following drawings:

LMM/024/03 – Location Plan, dated 17.07.18;
LMM/024/01A – Survey of Existing Layout dated 19.8.18;
LMM/024/02C – Proposed Layout, dated 07.11.18;
LMM/024/04B – Site Plan, dated 07.11.18; 
710.11 – Landscape Context Plan, dated 16.11.18;
710.12 – Landscape Assessment Plan, dated 16.11.18;
710.13 - Landscape Proposals, dated 16.11.18;
710.14A – Final Restoration Proposals, dated 19.2.19.

Reason: In order to define the scope of this consent and in the interests of the 
amenity of the area in accordance with Saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan. 

 3 The development to which this permission relates shall cease, the plant and 
machinery removed from the site and the site restored in accordance with the 
restoration and aftercare scheme shown on drawing reference 710.14A – Final 
Restoration Proposals, dated 19.2.19 or any amendments which may 
subsequently be agreed by the Waste Planning Authority on or before the 19th 
October 2026.  

Reason: To restore and manage the land in accordance with Saved Policy 42 of 
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraph 144.

 4 The use of the application site for waste recycling shall inure for the benefit of 
Elliott’s (Cheltenham) Limited only and shall be ancillary to the permitted adjacent 
waste management operation for the duration of this planning permission.

Page 62



Reason: in order to better integrate the site into the surrounding landscape in both 
local and long-distance views from the AONB escarpment in accordance Waste 
Core Strategy Policy WCS14.

 5 The details and landscaping measures comprising of establishment and aftercare 
shall be implemented as set out within drawing No. 710-13 Proposed Extension - 
Landscape Proposals, dated 16.11.18.  All tree and shrub planting must be fully 
completed within the first available planting season following consent. 

Reason: To ensure that amenity is conserved and biodiversity enhanced in 
accordance with Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS15 plus National Planning 
Policy Framework paragraphs 17, 109 and 118.

 6 No additional processes for the treatment of waste, other than those specified in 
the submitted application and supporting information shall be carried out at any 
time on the site. 

Reason: In order to define the scope of this consent and in the interests of the 
amenity of the area in accordance with Saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan. 

 7 The extension area, illustrated by the red line on plan number LMM/024/03 (dated 
17/07/2018)  to the recycling facility granted by permission number 
17/0075/TWMAJW (dated 29/09/2017) hereby permitted shall be used exclusively 
to process construction and demolition waste comprising inert and non-inert waste 
subject to the following limits.  The total quantity of material handled on the 
combined sites shall not exceed 4,000 tonnes per calendar month (January to 
December) subject to a maximum of 40,000 tonnes per calendar year (January to 
December) of which up to 5,000 tonnes per calendar year (400 tonnes per 
calendar month) may be non-inert waste. 

Reason: To define the scope of the application in the interests of highway safety in 
accordance with Policy WCS19 of the Waste Core Strategy. 

 8 The height of recycling containers located within the recycling container storage 
area shown on Drawing Reference 710-13 shall not exceed 4 metres in height. 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance with Saved 
Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan. 

 9 Permitted Development 

Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 4, Class B and Part 7, Class L of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or 
any order replacing, amending or re-enacting that order), no extension, alteration 
of a building or installation of replacement plant or machinery whether or not for a 
temporary period shall take place on any part of the site without planning approval 
from the Waste Planning Authority. 

Reason: There is a need to maintain control over additional plant and machinery in 
the interests of the amenity of the area and in accordance with Saved Policy 37 of 
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan. 

Page 63



10 Hours of Operation 

Except in emergencies to maintain safe quarry working (which shall be notified to 
the Mineral Planning Authority within 48 hours of the event), no operations or 
activities authorised or required by this permission shall be carried out and plant 
shall not be operated on the site other than during the following hours: 

07:30 - 17:30 Mondays to Fridays inclusive; 
07:30 - 13:00 Saturdays 
There shall be no materials accepted onto the site and no operations carried out 
on the site at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public holidays. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Saved 
Policies 37 and 38 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan

11 Pollution Prevention 

Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious 
bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there 
is multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of 
the largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks or 
vessels plus 10%. All filling points, associated pipework, vents, gauges and sight 
glasses must be located within the bund or have separate secondary containment. 
The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any 
watercourse, land or underground strata. Associated pipework shall be located 
above ground and protected from accidental damage. All filling points and 
tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into 
the bund. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with Saved 
Policy 33 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan. 
 

12 Effective measures shall be taken at all times to ensure that no litter or other waste 
material is dispersed beyond the boundaries of the site.  The operator shall ensure 
that a daily inspection of the site environs is undertaken and any fugitive litter from 
the site is immediately collected.  

Reason: To protect the amenity of the local environment in accordance with 
Saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

13 All plant and machinery shall operate only in the permitted hours specified in 
condition 10 and shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
recommendations to maintain optimum performance and reduce noise. 

Page 64



Reason: To protect the amenity of the local environment in accordance with Saved 
Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan. 

14 No materials shall be burned on site. 

Reason: To prevent environmental pollution and in the interests of the visual 
amenity of the area in accordance with Saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan. 

15 No development shall commence on site until a detailed Sustainable Drainage 
System (SuDS) Strategy document has been provided for approval by the Waste 
Planning Authority, this should be in accordance with the proposal set out in the 
Applicant’s Flood Risk Assessment, dated November, 2018 and the revised 
additional information dated 14 January, 2019.  The SuDS Strategy must include a 
detailed design, maintenance schedule, confirmation of the management 
arrangements and a timetable for implementation. The SuDS Strategy must also 
demonstrate the technical feasibility/viability of the drainage system through the 
use of SuDS to manage the flood risk to the site and elsewhere and the measures 
taken to manage the water quality for the life time of the development. The 
approved scheme for the surface water drainage shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is first put in to 
use/occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage 
and thereby preventing the risk of flooding in accordance with saved Policy 33 of the 
Waste Local Plan.  It is important that these details are agreed prior to the commencement 
of development as any works on site could have implications for drainage, flood risk and 
water quality in the locality.

16 No development shall be brought in to use until a SuDS management and maintenance 
plan for the lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for adoption 
by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved SUDS maintenance plan shall be 
implemented in full in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions.

Reason: To ensure the continued operation and maintenance of drainage features serving 
the site and avoid flooding in accordance with saved Policy 33 of the Waste Local Plan.

17 No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs or brambles shall take place between 
1st March and 31st August inclusive unless an ecologist or suitably experienced 
person has undertaken a careful, detailed check of the vicinity concerned for 
active birds’ nests. No such woody vegetation should be cleared unless the 
ecologist or suitably experienced person has given confirmation that no birds will 
be harmed or that there are appropriate measures in place to protect any identified 
nesting birds on the site. If any such measures are required these should be 
copied in writing in advance to the Waste Planning Authority for information and 
then implemented.

Reason: To ensure that breeding birds are protected as required by law and in 
accordance with ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework 
paragraphs 170 and 175. 

Page 65



18 No recycling operations shall commence on the site until the site bunds have been 
constructed in accordance with approved drawing reference LMM/024/02C – 
Proposed Layout, dated 07.11.18.  

Reason: To protect the amenity of the local environment in accordance with 
Saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

19 The existing site bunds adjacent to the application site shall remain in place until 
such time as the bunds on the extension site have been completed. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of the local environment in accordance with 
Saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

20 The approved scheme dated January 2008 to separate the PROW and the access 
track approved on 5 June 2008, shall be maintained as such for the duration of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with 
Policy WCS19 of the Waste Core Strategy. 

21 The vehicular access shown on drawing reference CR/07000569/FUL (dated 
November 2007) which was approved on 5th June 2008, shall be maintained as 
approved for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of access is provided and maintained in 
the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy WCS19 of the Waste 
Core Strategy.

22 The movement of commercial vehicles to and from the site access shall average 
no more than 112 per day and a maximum of 616 in any week. 

Reason: To protect occupants and users' amenity of the local countryside in 
accordance with Saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-
2012 and Policy WCS4 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy.

23 No commercial vehicles shall enter the public highway unless their wheels and 
chassis are clean to prevent materials being deposited on the highway. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety to prevent mud and dust getting on the 
highway in accordance with Policy WCS19 of the Waste Core Strategy and Saved 
Policy 37 of the Waste Local Plan.

24 From the date of this permission the site operator shall maintain records of the 
daily throughput of materials entering and leaving the site.  The records shall 
include details of vehicles both importing and exporting materials from the site and 
the type and quantities of material carried.  These details shall be submitted 
quarterly to the Waste Planning Authority within 21 days of the last day of each 
quarter’s end and evidenced by the production of waste transfer notes supplied on 
request by the WPA.  (For the avoidance of doubt each quarter shall be from the 
1st January until the 30th March; 1st April until 30th June; 1st July until 30th 
September and 1st October until 31st December).

Page 66



Reason:  In order that the WPA can monitor the site.

25 An annual progress report shall be submitted by the Applicant every 12 months 
from the date of this permission until this permission expires, giving details of the 
Applicant’s search and methods used to secure an alternative site for the 
relocation of the existing waste management site and the extension area hereby 
approved. 

Reason: To allow the WPA to monitor the applicant’s progress in finding an 
alternative site given the temporary nature of this planning permission.  

Applicant Advisory Notes:

1. The site is subject to an Environmental Permit under the Environmental Permitting 
Regulations (EPR).  The operator should ensure that any necessary variations to 
their Environmental Permit which are the subject of this application have been 
agreed with the Environment Agency. 

2. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will give consideration to how the proposed 
sustainable drainage system can incorporate measures to help protect water quality, 
however pollution control is the responsibility of the Environment Agency 

3. Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter that will be dealt with by 
the Local Planning Authority and has not, therefore, been considered by the LLFA.  Any 
revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA when resubmitted through 
suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. Please quote the planning application number 
in the subject field.

4. This permission should be read in conjunction with planning permission reference 
15/0053/TWMAJW and any subsequent permission amending and updating it.

5. While the Landscape Proposals Drawing 710-13 submitted with this application 
shows how the site layout might operate if permission for the extension area were 
granted, the existing site layout would need to be formally changed as part of a 
further amendment application under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act as the existing waste site falls outside the current red lined 
application site.  

BACKGROUND PAPERS:

Planning Application file 18/0073/TWMAJW containing the application form, planning 
application supporting statement, drawings, consultation responses and representations 
may be viewed by appointment with the case officer below or on the Council’s Public 
Access website www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning by a search with the application 
reference.

CONTACT OFFICER DETAILS:

Linda Townsend – Senior Planning Officer
Telephone: 01452 426896
Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 67

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning
mailto:planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PROGRESS REPORT – MAY COMMITTEE

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To identify the level and nature of enforcement activity undertaken by the 
Planning Enforcement team in 2019, up to and including 11th April.

1.2 To provide details and an update on formal action being taken against more 
serious planning breaches, including the results of legal actions undertaken.

1.3 To identify progress against enforcement matters raised on ‘Regulation 3 
Development’, where the County Council is either land owner, in control of the 
land, or the activity relates to the Council’s functions.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Gloucestershire County Council employs one-full time Planning Enforcement 
Officer, based in the Planning and Development Management Team. The role 
exists to investigate and take appropriate action against any alleged and 
identified breaches of planning regulations respectively. Some monitoring 
support is also provided by the Council’s Senior Planning (Monitoring and 
Compliance) Officer, and occasionally from other officers in the team.

2.2 The team operates according to the Planning Enforcement Plan brought before 
members in January 2019, supported by a set of customer service standards, 
through implementing agreed officer procedures. 

3.0 CURRENT WORKLOAD

3.1 The following is a summary of activity for 2019, to 11th April:

 18 new enquiries received leading to formal investigation; this compares against 
a total of 48 in the whole of 2018

 9 investigations resolved or otherwise concluded; this compares against a total 
of 22 in the whole of 2018

 35 investigations are ongoing, and a total of 44 different cases have been 
worked on in 2019

 12 other reports/complaints have been received which although requiring some 
assessment, did not require full investigation

3.2 The following identifies some of the areas of work undertaken to date in 2019, as 
part of those identified in sections 3.1:

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



2

 Complaints have been received concerning noise and dust coming from 
Allstones operations in Myers Road. County officers have met with the City 
Council Environmental Health team, and the Environment Agency in order to 
work together and consider the issues in more detail.

 Traffic through Ford – concerns have been raised about quarry products coming 
through the village. This is currently under investigation.

 Manor Farm – concerns have been raised about standing water in excavated 
land. This matter will be addressed by improved pumping over the coming weeks 
to dewater these areas.  

 New Dunn Business Park – a large amount of waste has been deposited on the 
land. The Council and owners have agreed to a timetable for its removal.

 Oathill Quarry – the Council is carrying out monitoring in respect of conditions 
attached to the planning permission.   

3.3      The following identifies further areas of work since the last report:

 Officers within the Planning and Development Management team have received 
legal training in disclosure, as part of improved practice for the team to support 
future legal actions. 

 The Enforcement Officer is progressing a County Matters Document, setting out 
suggestions for how the County works on planning enforcement matters with 
District Councils, for discussion with them.                 

4.0     FORMAL ACTION

4.1 When the Council’s requirements are not met, following a reasonable period 
given to comply, and where the breach is considered to be serious, then formal 
action will be taken to remedy a planning breach. This usually involves service of 
a Notice and/or Prosecution.

4.2 5 Breach of Conditions Notices are currently in force relating to operational hours 
at Westington Quarry, some of which have been breached. Prosecution 
proceedings against the operator have been instigated and this matter has been 
listed for trial. An update will be reported to members at the Committee meeting.

4.3 A further Breach of Condition Notice is in force at Westington Quarry, relating to 
approved noise levels being exceeded.

4.4 Following the issue of a s330 Notice to obtain further information in respect of a 
potential enforcement issue in Birdlip, the Council can advise that the 
enforcement issue is being resolved amicably with the landowner. 

5.0     REG 3 MATTERS

5.1 The County Council are rightly expected to investigate complaints relating to its 
own land or services, and approach their resolution in the same way as it would 
for any other breach of planning control reported. In order to demonstrate this 

Page 70



3

transparency, reports to Committee will identify such investigations, identifying 
the current position.  

5.2 2 such cases remain as open investigations, following complaints received by the 
Planning Enforcement team.

 Cleeve School – Some external lights were remaining on beyond the 9pm 
deadline for switching off (as required by planning condition).  The County 
Council’s Asset Management and Property team have arranged for them to be 
switched off, and this has been confirmed through monitoring visits and by 
neighbours. We have received no complaints since January. 

 Willows Caravan Site, Sandhurst – The Environment Agency have reported 
waste tipping on this site, owned by the County Council, and is being dealt with 
by the County Council’s Integrated Transport Manager (under whose remit the 
management of the land falls). A meeting on site in March resulted in agreed 
actions to remove waste off the land and to reinstate fences which should 
prevent access to the areas where waste has been deposited. This has now 
been included within a programme of works for 2019.

6.0 CONCLUSION

6.1 The performance of the Planning Enforcement team is set out in sections 3.0 to 
5.0 and demonstrates the County Council’s commitment to investigate and 
respond to breaches of planning control, and where necessary taking formal 
action. 

6.2 A total of 35 cases are currently under investigation, and in addition to any 
further enquiries received, officers will continue to work to try and resolve or 
meet a satisfactory outcome on as many of these cases as possible. 

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Andy Birchley - Senior Planning Officer (Enforcement)
andy.birchley@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 425664

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Delegated Decisions made between 9th March and 26th April 2019

Sarah Pearse 26/04/2019

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue 
Date

Decision

18/0066/CWMAJM Retrospective Section 73A application to 
vary condition 3 (approved plans); 6 
(timescale); 12 (importation tonnage); 
and 13 (daily vehicle movement limit) of 
planning permission 14/0039/CWMAJM, 
dated 28th August 2014 to amend the 
approved quarry restoration scheme with 
completion by  31st December 2023

Stanleys Quarry
Greenway Road
Blockley
Gloucestershire

29/03/2019 Consent

19/0020/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 6 (Landscape 
and Biodiversity Aftercare); 10 (Protective 
fencing); 11 (Perimeter track details); 12 
(Archaeology), 13(Pump house materials 
approval); 14 (Infiltration test); 15 (SuDs 
Maintenance Plan); 16 (Exceedance flow 
routing plan) & 17 (Warning notices) 
relating to planning consent 
17/0042/CWMAJW dated 15/06/2018

Stanleys Quarry
Greenway Road
Blockley
Gloucestershire

02/04/2019 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

18/0077/TWMAJW Installation of three new GRP kiosks to 
house electrical equipment for the 
tertiary solid removal plant.

Brockhampton Sewage Works
Brockhampton Lane
Brockhampton
Cheltenham GL51 9RS

07/03/2019 Consent

19/0006/NONMAT Non-material amendment to change the 
paving slabs in the courtyard to block 
paving, plan 5935/P/011 Rev. B 
superseded by plan 5935/P/011 Rev. D 
relating to planning consent 
18/0063/TWREG3 dated 14/12/2018.

Brockworth Primary School
Moorfield Road
Brockworth
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL3 4JL

04/03/2019 Non 
Material 
Amendment

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 9



Delegated Decisions made between 9th March and 26th April 2019

Sarah Pearse 26/04/2019

19/0002/COMPLI Compliance with condition 24 
(Operational Travel Plan) relating to 
appeal APP/T1600/A/13/2200210 
Allowed 16/01/2015.  GCC Public Access 
appeal ref. 13/0001/INQUIR. (Original 
planning ref. 12/0008/STMAJW.

Land At Javelin Park
Bath Road
Haresfield
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3ET

20/03/2019 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

18/0075/GLREG3 Erection of 2 single storey extensions and 
installation of a new hard court.

Finlay Community School & 
Children’s Centre
Tredworth Road
Gloucester GL4 6RT

10/04/2019 Consent

18/0052/GLR3MJ Widening/improvement of section of 
Gloucester South West Bypass (GSWB) 
between Spinnaker junction and 
GSWB/Llanthony Road junction including 
the demolition of the City Business 
Centre, Hemmingsdale Road/Llanthony 
Road to facilitate widening.

Gloucester South West Bypass 
(GSWB) 
Llanthony Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

10/04/2019 Consent

P
age 74


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Application No: 18/0032/TWMAJW Land to the West of wingmoor Farm, stoke Road, Bishops Cleeve.
	7 APPLICATION NO:	18/0073/TWMAJW.  Land off Shurdington Road, Bentham, near Cheltenham
	8 Planning Enforcement Report
	9 Delegated Decisions 9th March - 26th April 2019

